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COMPANY 
OVERVIEW

Onderstepoort Biological Products SOC Ltd (OBP) was corporatised in 2000 under the Onderstepoort Biological Products 
Incorporation Act 1999 (Act 19 of 1999). The primary objective of the corporate conversion was to create a favourable 
environment for the organisation to build capacity in manufacturing technologies, infrastructure and the development of 
new products – the critical success factors in the development of profitable products.

VISION

OBP is a global animal bio-pharmaceutical products provider.

MISSION

To provide animal bio-pharmaceutical products for improved animal health in support of food security.

MANDATE

This mandate is delivered through the continued development of innovative products, and efficient manufacturing 
processes that ensure vaccine affordability and accessibility through a diversity of distribution channels.

VALUES

Onderstepoort Biological Products SOC Ltd conducts its business by the following values:
• Integrity
• Customer focussed 
• Quality conscious
• Innovative
• Cooperative

WE ACCEPT THAT

Our employees are our enduring advantage.
• As a state-owned company, we have a responsibility to provide for the public as stakeholders.
• We have a responsibility to society and to the environment.

KEY STRATEGIC GOALS

1. To ensure financial sustainability.
2. To ensure a globally competitive product and service portfolio.
3. To ensure business excellence within organisation.
4. To contribute to socio-economic development as per government priorities.
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ORGANISATIONAL 
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LETTER TO THE MINISTER OF AGRICULTURE, 
LAND REFORM AND RURAL DEVELOPMENT

The Honourable Ms Thoko Didiza

Minister of Agriculture, Land Reform and Rural Development 

Private Bag x100

Pretoria

0001

Dear Minister,

I have the honour of presenting to you the 2019/2020 Annual Report of Onderstepoort Biological Products SOC 

Ltd, for submission to Parliament as required by the Public Finance Management Act 1999 (Act 1 of 1999).

The report covers the operations of Onderstepoort Biological Products SOC Ltd for the financial year 1 April 2019 

to 31 March 2020.

Yours faithfully,

Tshililo Ramabulana
Onderstepoort Biological Products SOC Ltd 
Chairperson of the Board



|  9   ANNUAL REPORT 2019 2020

CHAIRPERSON’S 
OVERVIEW

I am pleased to present the 2019/20 Annual Report to all our stakeholders outlining the performance during the year 
under review. OBP had an unqualified audit outcome for the financial year 2019/2020. This was achieved through hard 
work by all the stakeholders. 
 
The financial performance of the organisation improved by 8.5% compared to 2018/2019 financial year (actual R177 000 
000 as compared to R163 000 000). Though not profitable yet, the improvement is attributed to availability of products 
and reagents that were previously unavailable, also, more distributors were registered, which assisted in growing the 
market. 

During the year under review, the future was a key focus of all our operations. We equip our people with new skills, 
reintroduced unavailable products, improved our production facility, we support enterprise development and we 
foster the increased participation of the black majority in the economic life of OBP’s operations. The upgrade of OBP’s 
manufacturing facility continued towards attainment of a GMP status. GMP will improve access to international markets 
where it is a prerequisite and thus improve our profitability.

During the year, Adv Mdlulwa resigned. Challenges will continue in the years ahead, but I am confident that our business 
is well positioned for the immediate and long-term future.

I wish to express my appreciation to the Minister, the Deputy Ministers, and Members of the OBP Board for their guidance 
and support. I would also like to extend my gratitude to other State-Owned Entities, the Agricultural Research, Scientific 
and Educational fraternity, the agribusiness community including farmers’ organisations for their contribution through 
direct and indirect participation and engagements in support of OBP.

Lastly, I would like to thank the CEO, Dr Baptiste Dungu, EXCO and all employees of OBP for their hard work, commitment, 
and support during the year under review. 

Tshililo Ramabulana
Onderstepoort Biological Products SOC Ltd 
Chairperson of the Board,
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CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE

In light of the COVID-19 Pandemic and the current 
struggling economic markets governance, and the 
reporting of that governance, may become a more 
pressing issue for companies; particularly insofar as it 
relates to going concern reporting, risk management and 
internal controls.

The Company considers compliance to be its highest 
priority. The strengthening and improvement of corporate 
governance is an ongoing priority for management, 
with the aim of continuing sustainable growth and 
improvement of the Company’s corporate values, in 
order to meet the expectations of all of its stakeholders, 
including its shareholders and customers.

Exceptional governance framework plays an important 
role in assisting the Board to benefit from an enhanced 
understanding of its role. It is pivotal that an organisation’s 
governance processes and practices are reviewed on a 
regular basis to guarantee that they are in line with best 
operating customs to address the constantly changing 
business climate and increasingly intricate corporate 
governance challenges. Maintaining excellent governance 
structures increases business sustainability, profitability 
and further builds a positive reputation and a healthy 
culture within the organisation.

OBP envisions good corporate governance practices as 
a fundamental to high-quality performance. In fulfilling 
its Shareholder mandate, OBP adhered to the statutory 
duties and responsibilities as outlined by the Companies 
Act of 2008 and Public Finance Management Act (PFMA) 
of 1999. OBP also adhered to the guidelines as set out in 
the Report on Corporate Governance in South Africa 2009 
(King IV) as well as the Protocol on Corporate Governance 
in the Public Sector 2002. The organisation recognises that 
the underpinning component to a successful governance 
program is effective risk and compliance management.

SHAREHOLDING AND SHAREHOLDER’S 
COMPACT

The sole shareholder of OBP is the government of the 
Republic of South Africa (SA). The Minister of Agriculture, 
Land Reform and Rural Development is the Shareholder 
representative. OBP’s accounting authority, in consultation 
with the Minister of Agriculture, Land Reform and Rural 
Development sign a shareholder’s compact annually, 
which governs the Board and Shareholder’s role and 
responsibilities on OBP’s mandate and key objectives.

BOARD COMPOSITION

The Minister of Agriculture, Land Reform and Rural 
Development is responsible for the appointment of OBP’s 
Board of directors, whose structure consists of non-
executive directors, who have a diverse background and 
are able to contribute effectively to the Organisation. 
The Board term is a period of three years and we sadly 
note the end of the Current Board Term. The process for 
appointment of a new board is currently under way.

The Board Calendar is prepared in advance and meetings 
take place as scheduled. Special meetings are scheduled 
as and when they are required, to deal with critical issues 
which need to be addressed.

DELEGATION OF AUTHORITY

OBP is managed under the authority and direction of 
the Board of Directors. The responsibility of the Board 
is to oversee the administration and governance of 
the organisation and to monitor senior management’s 
performance. Committees of the Board, Executive 
Committee (ExCo) and a Management Committee 
(ManCo) are OBP’s governance structure to support the 
Board in efficiently leading the organisation.

BOARD CHARTER

The Board has adopted a charter which presents a 
succinct overview of the role, authority, functions, role 
and responsibilities of directors, both collectively and 
independently. The Board has determined that as per the 
MOI, Shareholder’s compact and relevant legislation, its 
main function and responsibilities are to:

• Give strategic direction to OBP in line with the 
government’s objectives and ensure that OBP remains 
a sustainable and viable business. The strategic 
objectives are set out in the corporate plan (CP) and 
annual performance plan (APP) submitted to the 
Department of Agriculture, Land Reform and Rural 
Development and the National Treasury;

• Prepare and approve corporate plans, annual budgets, 
annual reports and financial statements;

• Effectively lead, control and manage OBP business 
subject to the provisions of the OBP Act, Shareholder’s 
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CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE

compact, Companies Act, PFMA and other applicable 
legislation;

• Responsibility for the risk management processes, 
including the system of internal controls and ensuring 
that it is effective, efficient and transparent.

SIZE AND STRUCTURE OF THE BOARD

In terms of the OBP Act, the Board shall consist of a 
minimum of five directors and shall be limited to a 
maximum of seven directors. All directors are appointed 
by the Minister.

As of 31 March 2020, the Board ‘s structure comprises of 
six non-executive directors. The Board is a multi-faceted 
Board and are able to contribute effectively through their 
exceptional knowledge and experience.

BOARD ATTENDANCE

In terms of the MOI, the Board should convene at least 
four meetings per year and any special meetings, as and 
when required. During the year under review, the Board 
held 4 scheduled board meetings, 1 special Board meeting 
and one strategic workshop to devise and endorse OBP’s 
strategy.

BOARD REMUNERATION

The company provides full disclosure relating in terms 
of its directors’ emoluments in the annual report. The 
consolidated directors’ emoluments for OBP can be found 
on page 98 of the annual financial statements.

BOARD APPRAISAL AND PERFORMANCE

The Board’s performance and that of its committees 
is appraised at the end of each Financial Year (FY) in 
accordance with their terms of reference.

INDUCTION OF BOARD MEMBERS

Newly appointed Board members undergo an induction 
programme to advance their understanding of OBP’s 
business practices. Board members attend a selection 

of various training programmes crucial to adequately 
address the organisation’s needs.

SECRETARIAT FUNCTION

The secretariat function at OBP provides guidance to 
the Board of Directors on their roles and responsibilities 
and ensures that issues relating to governance and best 
operating practices of the company are adhered to in line 
with laws and regulations relevant to the organisation. 
Directors may deem it essential to seek independent 
experts at OBP’s cost. The company secretary and 
other individuals accountable for the assurance of the 
organisation’s crucial functions monitor OBP’s compliance 
in line with the Companies Act of 2008, PFMA of 1999 
and other relevant legislation, and table reports on these 
issues to the Board.

BOARD COMMITTEES

Board committees support the Board in delivering on 
its responsibilities. Individual committees function in line 
with terms of reference set out the composition, roles, 
responsibilities and delegated authority of the committee.

AUDIT, RISK AND IT COMMITTEE (AR&IT)

The committee consists of three independent non-
executive directors. The committee ensures that internal 
control is sustained to protect OBP’s interests and assets.

The Committee reviews:
• Accounting and auditing concerns raised by internal 

and external audits
• Annual financial statements and interim reports

The committee also ensures that an effective internal audit 
function is in place and that the roles and functions of the 
external audit are sufficiently clarified and co-ordinated 
to provide an objective overview of the operational 
effectiveness of the Company’s systems of internal 
control, risk management, governance and reporting.

The committee has to assess the performance of the 
internal audit function and the adequacy of available 
internal audit resources. The committee considers and 
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Name Board Special Board Audit 
Special 

Audit Risk 
& IT

Research 
Development 
Operations

Human 
Resources 

Remuneration 
and Ethics

Human 
Resources 

Remuneration 
& Ethics

Total Meetings Held 4 1 4 2 4 4 4

CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE

Board Members’ Attendance 

     *  Mr T Ramabulana 4 1 - - 4 4 4

   **  Mr Y Haffejee 3 1 4 2 - - 4

 ***  Ms TK Mdlulwa 2 1 2 2 1 - 2

**** Dr P Vervoort 4 1 3 2 4 4 -

         Dr C Nkuna 2 1 - - 4 4 3

         Ms F Mphuthi 4 - 4 1 4 4 -

makes recommendations on the appointment and 
retention of the external auditors, the fees paid and 
the terms of engagement. The committee reviews the 
accuracy, reliability and credibility of statutory financial 
reporting. The Internal auditors (Morar Incorporated) and 
the external auditors (Auditor General) have unrestricted 
led access to the chairperson of the Audit, Risk and IT 
committee (IRAC) and the Board respectively. Six meetings 
were held during the year under review of which two 
were special.

REMUNERATION, HUMAN RESOURCES, SOCIAL 
& ETHICS COMMITTEE

The committee comprises of four non-executive directors.
The committee makes recommendations on:
• Human resources strategy and policies,
• Succession Planning,
• Remuneration,
• Training,
• Governance of ethics, and
• Performance Management.
• The committee ensures that the management of human 

resources and statutory reporting are in line with all 
applicable legislations. Four scheduled meetings were 
held during the year under review.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE

The committee comprises of five non-executive directors.
The committee is responsible for:
• Overseeing development of strategies, policies and 

standards related to the committee functions
• Advising management on the mobilisation of resources
• Overseeing the establishment of processes for the 

support of the core mandate of the organisation
• Facilitating collaborations and partnerships with 

respect to the functions of the organisation. The 
committee further oversees the development of the 
research agenda for the institution. It ensures that all 
intellectual property is managed in accordance with 
the intellectual Property Policy. Four scheduled meetings 
were held during the year under review.

OPERATIONS, SALES AND MARKETING 
COMMITTEE

The committee comprises of four non-executive directors.
The committee is responsible for:
• Overseeing development of strategies, policies and 

standards related to the committee functions
• Advising management on the mobilisation of resources
• Overseeing the establishment of processes for the 

support of the core mandate of the organisation. Four 
scheduled meetings were held during the year under 
review.

Board and committee meetings attendance | April 2019 - March 2020

Board Members appointed 01st August 2017
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RISK
MANAGEMENT

OBP recognises that strategy implementation is dependent 
on taking calculated risks that will not jeopardise the 
stakeholder interest, ensures that adequate controls are 
in place to mitigate the level of risk. The organisation is 
committed to effective enterprise wide risk management 
(ERM) in pursuit of business performance, helping 
management make better decision choices in protecting 
and enhancing enterprise value, as companies face 
uncertain future in the animal health environment. 

The risk responses are aimed to support OBP’s value 
creation objectives by managing and monitoring the 
performance variability inherent in operations, protecting 
accumulated enterprise value from unacceptable losses, 
and leveraging existing core competencies to pursue 
market opportunities.

OBP manages risks and enterprise value, with an 
understanding of the sources and drivers of value using 
organisational objectives and strategy as a context. OBP 
executive management focused their attention on the 
enterprise long term prospects for the return on investment. 
Management adopts a rigorous process in managing 
risk by first, evaluating key underlying variables in the 
business plan exposed to performance variability and 
require specific risk responses. Secondly, understanding 
the loss exposure or drivers inherent to OBP’s business 
model that require specific risk responses. Thirdly, 
identifying incongruities inherent in the business model 
where management has, either knowingly or unknowingly, 
accepted risks that should be avoided in relation to OBP’s 
risk appetite.

ERM’s focus is on the critical risk management tasks that 
are, identify events, assess risk, design risk response, 
implement control activities, information/communicate 
and monitor enterprise risk management that provide a 
flexible framework for addressing these above mentioned 
three strategically important issues. The organisation 
acknowledges that failure to manage exposure to 
potential future events that can destroy value, will reduce 
the strategy plan from creating value to waste.

The Risk Management Policy and framework adopted 
by OBP sets out the foundation to effectively manage 
risk in a structural and systematic manner. It outlines the 
identification, assessment, management, and monitor the 
risks to which the business is exposed. The formalised 
risk management process enables the departments and 
divisions functions to assess risks and develop plans 

for the most material ones identified at all levels of 
operations. Risk registers are maintained and reviewed on 
a bi-annual basis. A risk assessment process is triggered 
when there are changes in the business context of all 
risks, with focus on the key risks. The Audit, Risk and IT 
Committee of the Board of Directors are updated on the 
action plan progress and risk status. 

Management has implemented systems of internal control 
and an effective risk-based internal audit aimed at:
• Safeguarding assets and reducing the risk of loss, error, 

fraud, and other irregularities.
• Providing assurance on the effectiveness and 

adequacy of internal controls.
• Ensuring the accuracy and completeness of accounting 

records and reporting.
• Preparing timely and reliable financial statements and 

information in compliance with relevant legislation.
• Complying with generally accepted accounting policies 

and practices.
• Increasing the probability of anticipating unpredictable 

risk.

MANAGING RISKS 

Risk assessments were conducted with the executive 
and management team, followed by consolidation and 
analysis of the priority risks, review, and approval of the 
Risk Assessment Report by the RAI (Risk Audit and IT) 
Committee of the board.

Mitigation strategies for identified risks are developed 
by management to treat the risks to acceptable levels 
in alignment with strategy. Management may use the 
options available to decide to eliminate the risk through 
preventative processes, accept the risk by maintaining the 
risk at its current level, share the risk with an independent 
counterpart, or manage the risk by implementing policies 
and procedures to reduce the risk.  Line managers are 
responsible for ensuring that appropriate treatment 
action plans are implemented, and internal controls are 
in place.
Risk response to significant risks was handled with 
increased rigor and robustness compared to less 
significant risks. Risk management capability to mitigate 
these risks was assessed and enhanced depending 
on the gap between the current and desired risk 
management capability.
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Financial risk management is specifically described in the 
Finance Report.

The table below outlines the 6(six) key risks out of the 13 
(thirteen) risks identified, the mitigation activities and risk 
status adapted from the 2019/20 Strategic Risk Register.  

Legend Definition No of Risks

Decrease in risk exposure 4

Risk exposure unchanged 0

Increase in risk exposure 2

Risk Category Mitigation Plan
Movement in 

Exposure
Detail

Production

1.  Improve production process improvement, 
streamlining and optimizing to meet the market need.

3.  Build engineering capacity for production equipment 
reliability.

4.  Improve batch success rate

Improved control 
efficiency due to 
mitigation measures 
interventions 
completed

Business Development

Review, update and effectively implement marketing 
strategy. 

Department performance management and monitoring 
against the targets

Improve product list and diversity

Improved forecasting

Stakeholder engagement (provincial governments)

mprove product shelf life 

Develop and implement government and emerging 
strategy

Improved control 
efficiency  due to 
completed mitigation 
action plans and 
key deliverables 
achievement

Sustainability

Appointment of personnel to address capacity 

Departmental delegation of authority

Improve costing model.

Reduced control 
efficiency indicated 
in the audit finding, 
loss event reports and 
completed mitigation 
action. 

Governance, Risk & Compliance 

1. Monthly monitoring of strategy plan and operational 
plan implementation, key performance indicators and 
achievement of performance objectives.

2. Monitoring of the effectiveness of the committees in 
terms of performance and reporting. 

Improved governance 
controls

RISK
MANAGEMENT

Table1: OBP Priority Risks

Management of these risks included identifying new 
action plans, enhanced the existing action plans to ensure 
risk reduction to acceptable levels.

The sequence in which the risks are listed does not imply 
any order of significance. 
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Risk Category Mitigation Plan
Movement in 

Exposure
Detail

Research and Development

Review and update of R&D strategy

GMP Project - Phase 3 to address R&D infrastructure

Completion of Animal trial facility

Collaborations with internal and external partners and 
stakeholders

R&D, Production and Sales & Marketing integrated 
planning

Improved control 
efficiency due to the 
completed action 
plans and alternative 
interventions 
implemented. 

Fraud and Corruption

Conduct Awareness on the fraud prevention including 
the following:

•  Code of Ethics/Conduct 

•  Delegations of authority

•  Declaration of conflict of interest.

Review and update Fraud Prevention Strategy and Plan

Improve whistle blower reporting and awareness

Control efficiency 
decreased due to 
controls bypass 
incidents reported. 

RISK
MANAGEMENT

OVERALL MANAGEMENT ASSESSMENT OF 
OPPORTUNITIES AND RISKS 

OBP management strategy focussed on the risk 
minimising measures of the major risks in the last two 
quarters of the year under review.  

The Risk Management department monitored 
key measures within the planned implementation 
timeframe and the assumed risk-minimising effect. 

The Risk Management unit uses this information to 
determine the current risks profile for OBP, reporting 
this to the management and Audit Risk and IT commit-
tee of the board.

The Strategic Risk Register for 2019/20 financial year 
was reviewed to align to changes in our operating 
environment.  The risks identified were 13 (thirteen) 
and 4 (four) of these were assessed as major risks 
in the first two quarters, and 6(six) in the last two 
quarters of the year following risk review (Table1). 

The interconnectedness and aggregation of these 
major risks further increase OBP’s exposure. These 
were prioritised for mitigation, with new action plans 
implemented and enhanced existing action plans for 

risk reduction to desired levels. In the Q1, more risk 
minimising interventions were implemented and some 
action plans completed between Q2 and Q4.  

An improved control efficiency reduced exposure 
to 67% of the key risks by end of Q4 with the 
remainder 33% of risk exposure increasing. Mitigation 
interventions and controls improvements were 
implemented and risk reduction to desirable levels is 
expected in next period.

During the last quarter, the global pandemic  was 
the new threat and an emerging risk with a business 
disruption impact  that forced our organisation, like 
all businesses and entities, to realign the risks for 
business continuity, going into the new financial year.

OBP management and BoD confirms that the 
organisation’s risk management, mitigation and 
monitoring processes, have been effective in limiting 
the key risks and aggregated impact on the business 
in the past financial year.



18   | 



| 19   ANNUAL REPORT 2019 2020

REPORT OF THE
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The sales revenue improved compared to 2018/2019. 

We continued to improve our management and controls, 
as reflected by the improved audit outcome. Meanwhile, 
special efforts were put to address issues related to 
specific products that were contributing to the overall 
product unavailability, such as  brucella and bluetongue 
vaccines, and other reagents. 

Addressing these issues also involved rebuilding capacity 
through the support of experienced specialists. We are 
happy to report that most of the production challenges 
have now been addressed, resulting in an improvement 
on our market positioning. 

The company continues its journey towards GMP 
compliance and accreditation, including a focus on the 
establishment of a GMP facility. Most of the equipment 
was bought, and constructions is continuing. 

The appointment of a GMP certified Quality Assurance 
Manager with vast knowledge of GMP came just in time 
to further guide and boost the capacity of the facility 
upgrade project.

On the human resource side, OBP has embarked on 
strengthening its capacity to align with its growth strategy, 
which include expertise and integrity. 

Our customers continue to be our main focus for we exist 
because they are. The last month of the financial year 
saw the country on lockdown due to the worldwide 
spread of COVID-19. We experienced a R25 million loss 
of international sales. 

Our focus in the new year will be to adapt and position 
ourselves in the new normal of COVID-19 as we learn to 
coexist. The focus will be on the filling of critical positions, 
improving our vaccine registration dossiers, increasing our 
market share while expanding our export, strengthening 
collaborations and capacity building for the future.

I would like to thank the Board of OBP for their unwavering 
support and for creating a positive environment. 

To my EXCO colleagues, I offer a special word of appreciation.

To the employees at all levels, a kind appreciation for 
your continued support and contribution to making OBP 
a success. 

To our customers, for your continuous support, thank you.

Dr Baptiste Dungu
Onderstepoort Biological Products SOC Ltd
Chief Executive Officer
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CORPORATE SOCIAL INVESTMENT

Building and maintaining responsible corporate 
citizens has always been an element that that OBP has 
strived to retain. With that being said, we appreciate 
the importance of giving back to the communities in 
which we serve or influence through our operations. 
As a result, all publics in all communities are equally 
important and our responsibility to them, crucial. 

Being an organisation with a global reach provides 
us with the opportunity to assist needy communities 
with the appropriate assistance that they may need. 

Primary focus areas are:
•  Health
•  Education
•  Job creation
•  Ad hoc CSI projects

Mandela Day forms part of our primary CSI focus 
areas, which saw us embracing the “Take Action - 
Inspire Change - Make Every Day a Mandela Day”. 

In line with one of the prescribed Nelson Mandela 
Day goals for 2019-2029; Education and Literacy, we 
took the opportunity to focus on farmers’ education, 
as well as employee education, as our contribution. 

A team made its way to the Vleissentrum plot, where 
vaccines information sharing took place. The 300-
400 emerging farmers present had the opportunity to 
be taught about the importance of vaccination and 
the promotion of good animal health, as this remains 
our core business. 

Sharing our knowledge with our farmers is immensely 
important, as education is a vital key for any success. 

In the same spirit, it was time to also educate each 
other internally. The opportunity to educate and 
promote the functions of the department that sees to 
the animals onsite, was an important and welcomed 
experience.  

Education on all the different types of animals 
and different testing methods were shared with 
employees, most of whom had no prior knowledge 
of that extent.

The learning experience proved phenomenal for 
both our staff, as well as our farmers.

OBP joined the Department of Agriculture, Land 
Reform and Rural Development (DALLRD) formally 
known as (DAFF) in partnership with the Eastern 
Cape, in Lusikisiki to be exact, in commemorating 
World Food Day. 

With the theme being “Our Actions Are Our Future. 
Healthy Diets for A #ZeroHunger World,” our 
Honourable Minister of Agriculture, Land Reform and 
Rural Development, Ms Thoko Didiza highlighted 
timeously throughout the day that its focus on tack-
ling global hunger was vital.   

The event emphasised amongst other things, the 
importance of creating conditions that allowed rural 
people, especially youth, to engage in agriculture to 
create more resilient livelihoods. 

By donating non-perishable food to the value of 
R30,000, OBP participated in ensuring that many 
hungry stomachs would benefit from the food 
parcels collated.  

We continue to be committed to continue to make 
these donations annually, to help become part of the 
solution to the hunger epidemic. 

An exhibition stand was also set up, which saw 
a tremendous number of emerging farmers and 
members of the community of Lusikisiki gather to 
gain much desired knowledge about the vaccination 
programmes and products. Sharing such informa-
tion would be paramount to anyone with livestock 
to assist in ensuring that they know how and when 
to vaccinate their livestock to ensure healthy and 
disease-free animals. 

SECONDARY CSI

OBP also participated in Government initiatives, 
where the CSI team interacted with emerging farmers 
as well as youngsters, while in partnership with the 
Department of Agriculture, Land Reform and Rural 
Development.

The following areas benefited from those initiatives;
•  African Forestry and Wildlife Commission 

Exhibitors Invitation
•  National Extension Advisory Services Seminar 

and Awards exhibition invitation
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SECURITY

OBP was re-registered as a National Key Point 
during 2007. The security department is therefore 
responsible to ensure that OBP comply with the 
National Key Point Act 102 of 1980 as reaffirmed in 
2003, and the National Strategic Intelligence Act 39 of 
1994 and inter alia other Legislation.

Quarterly compulsory Joint Planning Committee 
Meetings (JPC) was held. The security integri-
ty planning of OBP was evaluated and reviewed. 
The JPC evaluated the implementation progress 
and maintenance of the JPC approved security 
measures, e.g.  CCTV, upgrading of the Access Control 
System, implantation of physical security measures 
as to ensure OBP’s security integrity, and awarding 
of a NKP Compliant Security Service Provider for the 
static protection of OBP staff, premises and assets.

The Security Manager attended the Security 
Officer Liaison Forum (SOLF) meetings for NKPs. 
This attendance is compulsory as in this forum, the 
SAPS NKP Regulator (South African Police Service) 
communicates with all National Key Point role players, 
and issues are discussed and resolved with regards 
to the regulating of the NKP’s.  

The SAPS NKP Regulator executed a NKP audit at 
OBP (in compliance to the NKP Act). All the NKP 
Competent Security Officers deployed at OBP 
successfully underwent the compulsory refresher 
training prescribed by the NKP Act. They also have 
competency certification for handling firearms on a 
business level.

Minor proliferation incidents occurred and were 
thoroughly investigated and reported, with the full 
support of the local SAPS.

NIA (SSA) supported OBP regarding Security 
Screenings, Vetting and Information Security related 
hardening in the protection of sensitive information 
of OBP. 

CLEANERS

In 2018, the cleaners were incorporated as permanent 
staff. This was done after a thorough investigation on 
the advantages of having the cleaners insourced. 

Training took place at the workstations, especially in 
the laboratories. 

In 2020, the Cleaning Department moved over to 
Engineering, Maintenance and Utilities. This was to 
ensure that the level of cleanliness is up to standard 
under the Facilities Office.
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REPORT OF THE 
HUMAN RESOURCES DIVISION

INTRODUCTION

OBP 2019/2020 strategic  goals, remains the roadmap 
for the Human Resources Department, in assisting the 
organisation to attain its mission to “ensuring business 
excellence within the organisation and building 
a successful and high performing organisation, 
respectively”. Business excellence means among 
others, qualitative and sustainable performance by 
employees, in the provision of animal healthcare 
products. 

Fuelled by this determination to create an 
environment that would attract and retain talented 
human resources in the organisation, OBP embarked 
on some key activities during this period. 
 

NEW BUSINESS STRATEGY

A new business strategy was developed to position 
OBP as one of the best performing organisations in 
the animal healthcare industry. Furthermore, the 
organisation aimed at reclaiming some of its market 
share lost in the past, due to various reasons. 

In support of this strategy, a Skills Audit exercise was 
implemented to identify overall existent skills within 
the organisation, analyse same to ascertain if it was 
aligned with the new strategy, identify gaps and put 
measures in place to close and improve the gaps 
through among others, training and development 

of  internal human resources and attraction of new 
critical skills.

REVIEW OF HUMAN RESOURCES POLICIES

In line with the new business strategy, Human 
Resources policies that were outdated were 
identified with a view to review and amend them to 
bring them in line with new business goals. Among 
these were the Performance Management policy, 
Leave Policy, Disciplinary Code, etc. 

In support of promoting a culture of a performance 
driven organisation, an external remuneration 
and benefits expert was appointed to review and 
benchmark the company’s remuneration practices. 
The exercise was aimed chiefly at benchmarking 
internal remuneration benefits and practices to 
enable the organisation to provide competitive 
benefits in its quest of retaining best talent internally.

WORKFORCE PROFILE

OBP had budgeted headcount of 274 with the actual 
headcount of 209, excluding temporary employees. 
There was a vacancy rate of 23.72% which is 1.17% 
less than the previous year. During the year under 
review, 26 permanent and 3 fixed-term employees 
were appointed pursuant to a recruitment process. 

Division Number of posts Number of posts filled Vacancies

Chief Executive Officer’s Office 3 3 0

Quality Assurance 7 6 1

Quality Control 9 8 1

Clinical Unit 52 36 16

SHE and Risk Management 2 2 0

Operations 100 75 25

Projects 2 1 1

Research and Development 21 18 3

Sales and Business Development 12 9 3

Finance 29 21 8

Corporate Services 32 26 6

Company Secretariat and Legal Services 5 4 1

Total 274 209 65
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MALE FEMALE FOREIGN 
NATIONALS TOTAL

1 0 0 0

3 0 0 0

6 2 0 3

31 1 0 1

34 0 0 2

23 0 0 0

97 3 0 6

2 0 0 0

100 3 0 6

0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0

8 0 1 0

38 0 1 5

16 0 0 6

18 0 0 0

80 0 2 11

5                                                                                                                                         0 0 0

85 0 2 11

0 0

0 0

1 1

0 3

0 0

0 0

1 4

0 0

1 4

1

3

23

80

61

41

209

7

216

A C I W A C I W MALE FEMALE

OCCUPATIONAL LEVELS

Top management

Executive management

Management

Skilled employees

Semi-skilled  employees

Basic – skilled employees

TOTAL PERMANENT

Temporary employees

GRAND TOTAL

REPORT OF THE 
HUMAN RESOURCES DIVISION

EMPLOYMENT EQUITY AND WORKFORCE PROFILE

The following represents the racial and gender demographics during the period:

a) Female: 47% of the workforce, this is less by 4% compared to the previous year. This is slightly higher than the 
females in Gauteng economically active population.

b) African: 88% of the workforce, only 1% less than the previous year. This is 10% higher than the Gauteng 
economically active population. 

 
Female employees accounts for 43% of management, 2% higher than the previous year. 

The area that requires a specific focus is on the Executive level and People with disabilities.

TABLE 2:  Race and Gender Profile of Employees
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REPORT OF THE 
HUMAN RESOURCES DIVISION

MANAGEMENT

STAFF

ExCo

GENDER DISTRIBUTION

GENDER DISTRIBUTION

GENDER DISTRIBUTION

RACE DISTRIBUTION

RACE DISTRIBUTION

RACE DISTRIBUTION
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REPORT OF THE 
HUMAN RESOURCES DIVISION

AGE PROFILE

25.8 % of staff are within the 50- 59-year bracket and could be considered a retirement risk. Development of 
succession plans is an ongoing process to ensure skills retention and sustainability of the company.

The profile of OBP employees is as follows:

RECRUITMENT

The following employees were appointed during 2019/2020 financial year.

TABLE 3:  Age Profile as at 31 March 2020

TABLE 4:  Permanent Appointments 

AGE CATEGORY TOTAL

Below Age 30 26

30 to 39 62

40 to 49 67

50 to 54 24

55 to 59 30

TOTAL 209

NUMBER POSITION DEPARTMENT GENDER RACE 

1 Manager in the Office of the CEO Office of the CEO Female African 

2 Validation Officer Quality Assurance Female African 

3 Validation Officer Quality Assurance Female African 

4 Research Specialist Virology Research & Development Viral Male White 

5 Occupational Health Nurse Human Resources Male African 

6 Finance Specialist Finance Male African 

7 Cleaner Security & Facilities Male African 

8 Cleaner Security & Facilities Male African 

9 Cleaner Security & Facilities Male African 

10 Dispatch Controller Distribution Male African 

11 Receptionist Human Resources Female White 

12 Operator Raw Materials Male African 

13 Operator Raw Materials Male African 

14 Operator Raw Materials Male White 

15 Operator Raw Materials Male White

16 Operator Packaging Male African 

17 Operator Packaging Male African 

18 Operator Packaging Male African 

19 Operator Packaging Male African 

20 Operator Packaging Male African 

21 Operator Packaging Male African 

22 Operator Packaging Male African 

23 Operator Packaging Male African 

24 Packaging Manager Packaging Male African 

25 Human Resources Manager Human Resources Male African 

26 Company Secretary Company Secretary Female Indian 
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REPORT OF THE 
HUMAN RESOURCES DIVISION

STAFF TURNOVER

OBP’s turnover rate for 2019/2020 financial year is 12%, which is 7% higher than the previous year. There were 
26 terminations, with 14 resignations, 5 employee’s contracts ended, 2 went on retirement, 4 were dismissed 
and 1 deceased. Out of 14 resignations, 10 were avoiding going through the disciplinary hearings.

TABLE 5:  Fixed Term Appointments 

NUMBER POSITION DEPARTMENT GENDER RACE 

1 Postdoctoral Research Fellowship Research & Development Viral Female African 

2 Postdoctoral Research Fellowship Research & Development Viral Female African 

3 Project Manager  Office of the CEO African Male

LEARNING AND DEVELOPMENT

Our Training and Development interventions were 
geared towards the achievement of our strategic 
goals. An international specialist from the UK came to 
develop internal capacity in the Clinical unit on GLP 
and GXP processes. 

Three specialists were hired to build capacity in R & D, 
Bacterial Vaccines, and Diagnostic reagents.

An international expert also trained staff in 
quantifying bacterial antigens thus reducing the use 
of animals and also formulation and production of 
multivalent vaccines.

TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT INTERVENTIONS

Our Training and Development target was 90% and we achieved 54%.

TABLE 5:  Employee training for the period 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020

MALE MALE

0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0

2 1 0 2

13 1 0 0

19 0 0 0

17 0 0 0

51 2 0 2

2 0 0 0

53 2 0 2

0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0

4 0 0 0

26 0 1 2

1 0 0 1

6 0 0 0

37 0 1 3

4 0 0 0

41 0 1 3

A C I W A C I W

OCCUPATIONAL LEVELS

Top management

Executive management

Management

Skilled employees

Semi-skilled  employees

Basic – skilled employees

TOTAL PERMANENT

Temporary employees

GRAND TOTAL

TOTAL

0

0

9

43

21

23

96

6

102

LEARNERSHIP AND INTERNSHIP 
PROGRAMMES

OBP implemented two learnership programs during 
the year under review, namely:
• Further Education and Training Certificate: Generic 

Management 
• National Certificate: Automated Packaging
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REPORT OF THE 
HUMAN RESOURCES DIVISION

EMPLOYEE RELATIONS

The organisation upholds religiously the principles of 
the Labour Relations Act, 66 of 1995, as amended, 
viz. workplace democracy, freedom of association, 
collective bargaining, and implementation of fair 
labour practices. In this regard, it continued to 
recognise trade union activity in the workplace and 
the promotion of harmonious relationships with all 
employees and the trade unions.

In demonstration of this commitment, the organisation 
experienced an unprocedural work stoppage by 
members of the trade unions in October. These 
members demanded certain remuneration benefits 
to be offered to them. The prompt intervention of 
both the leadership of the unions and management 
resolved this situation within a very short time of its 
commencement.

The dispute referral rate by employees to the 
Commission of Conciliation Mediation and Arbitration 
(CCMA) has decreased from the previous year. This 
can be attributed to the proactive approach the 
organisation’s leadership has taken in addressing 
and resolving issues, before becoming disputes. 
Even if disputes arose, these are resolved amicably 
between parties, instead of by outside tribunals.

A new chairperson of the Collective Bargaining Forum 
was appointed for a period of a year to end August 
2020. This is the forum where matters of interest 
are discussed and agreed on for employees within 
Patterson grade A to C.
 

SALARY INCREASES

Salary increases for the bargaining unit (Salary Levels 
A to C) are negotiated within the Bargaining Forum 
and salary increases for management (Salary Levels 
D to F) are determined by the Board of Directors. The 
2019/20, wage negotiations with Organised Labour 
commenced in August 2019. A wage settlement of 7% 
was reached, excluding all other demands. This was 
back dated to April 2019.

EMPLOYEE WELLNESS

To enhance the comprehensive wellness programme, 
we have appointed the Occupational Health Nurse 
who is available every weekday, and the Medical 
Doctor comes once a week. Together, they manage 
employees with chronic disease and medical 
surveillance.

PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT

In pursuit for a Performance Driven culture, a target 
of 100% was set for this financial year, as opposed 
to 80% for the previous year. However, due to the 
vacancy rate which included management positions, 
the target was not reached. We observed 92% and 
88% of actual performance review in the third and 
fourth quarter respectively.

EMPLOYEE ENGAGEMENT SURVEY 

One of the objectives for this financial year which was 
achieved, was to have a baseline for the Employee 
Engagement Survey. There was a good participation 
rate, at 73%, which is higher than the average. 

Respondents were categorised according to their 
responses. 5,7% of respondents are Fully Disengaged, 
30,4% Disengaged, 53,2% Engaged and 10,8% Fully 
Engaged. This means that 36% of employees are 
disengaged to some degree, and 64% of employees 
engaged to some degree. Action plans to be drafted 
to improve on issues that employees are concerned 
about.
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REPORT OF THE
SALES AND BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

In the 2019/20 financial year, the Sales and Marketing 
department had 2 objectives, however, there has 
been a lot achieved as compared to the previous fi-
nancial year, even though the Covid-19 lockdown in 
quarter 4 impacted negatively on the export market.  
Below is a summary of activities implemented to 
achieve these strategic objectives.

OVERALL COMPANY PERFORMANCE 

Though we could not achieve our annual sales 
revenue target, we were 9% above against 2018/19 
sales revenue performance. Our export was 24% 
above 2018/19 financial performance even though 
they did not achieve target. Viral vaccines continue 
to be key products contributing more revenue  (62%) 
as compared to bacterial products.

The same can be seen both in the export and 
domestic market, with viral products contributing 
more revenue than bacterial. Within the overall 
top 15 clients, coops make 50% while the rest are 
wholesalers. In the export market, the middle east 
contributed more, followed by the SADC region.

TECHNICAL AND MARKETING ACTIVITIES

A new division was created and immediately 
capacitated. Within three months of its establishment, 
coops, veterinarians, feedlots, farmer associations 
and farmers were visited. The same was done in the 
SADC region. 

DISTRIBUTION POINTS

We intended to open 9 distribution points and 
managed to achieve more than we targeted. The 
intention is making OBP’s products more accessible 
to small and emerging farmers. 

CUSTOMER PERCEPTION SURVEY 

In response to our internal audit report on customer 
complaints, product returns, sales forecast and 

competitiveness, there was quite an improvement. 
The customer survey conducted showed a positive 
improvement as compared to 2018/19 financial year.   

CONCLUSION

The current lockdown is expected to impact the 
export market more than the domestic market. 
Our marketing team has been more innovative in 
using other communication channels to reach out to 
farmers. We anticipate that our production output will 
improve, and product supply will be more efficient in 
the next financial year. 
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REPORT OF THE
CHIEF SCIENTIFIC OFFICER

The R&D unit exists to expand the product portfolio 
and introduce new production and quality control 
technologies within OBP. The major focus for the Unit 
is to advance proof of concepts technologies and 
product development innovations to commercial 
implementations. This is in addition to troubleshooting 
activities of production process challenges that might 
be experienced by OBP. The primary deliverables for 
the R&D unit are new product dossiers, improved 
production processes and technology transfers 
within and outside OBP. It is the objective of R&D to 
pursue scientific excellence through investing in own 
staff development and publishing scientific outputs 
in peer reviewed platforms and technical presenta-
tions in scientific meetings.

COLLABORATIONS

OBP rarely embarks on discovery research for new 
pharmaceutical ingredients. However, it relies on its 
national and international network of collaborators to 
source relevant innovations for upscaling, validation 
and adoption as new products and technologies 
provided certain pre-set performance criteria are 
fulfilled. The unit benefited from collaborations on 
vaccine development projects with the Agricultural 
Research Council, Council for Scientific and Industrial 
Research (CSIR) and Universities of Pretoria, 
Johannesburg, North-West, Kwazulu-Natal, and the 
Free State. National funding agents who funded OBP 
R&D activities included the Technology Innovation 
Agency and the National Research Foundation (NRF). 
Internationally, OBP was funded by the International 
Development Research Centre and the Hong Kong 
Jockey Club. The external funding sources are in 
addition to an appreciable investment made by OBP 
as part of its R&D funding budget.

PRODUCT REGISTRATION DOSSIERS 

During the year under review OBP submitted 2 product 
registration variations to the South African regulatory 
authority. These applications are currently being 
reviewed by Act 36 for market authorization. Sever-
al technical documents as well as product dossiers 
were submitted to foreign customers for possible 
registration of vaccines in South America, Middle 
East, and South Asia. It is noteworthy that all vac-

cine development initiatives are done in compliance 
to all regulatory and guideline prescriptions of the 
South African Veterinary Council, National Council 
of Society for the Prevention of Cruelty to Animals, 
Animal Diseases Act (35 of 1984), the Fertilizers, Farm 
Feeds, Agricultural Remedies and Stock Remedies 
Act, 1947 Act (No. 36 of 1947) and the Genetically 
Modified Organism Act (No. 15 of 1997).

HUMAN CAPACITY BUILDING 

The R&D unit continued to invest in staff capacity 
building, with 3 staff members from the unit being 
registered or continuing with PhD’s and 2 members 
of staff doing M.Sc. degrees at various South African 
Universities. Furthermore, the were three students 
who graduated with M.Sc. degrees at the University of 
Johannesburg (2) and the University of KwaZulu-Natal 
(1) under the co-supervision of OBP Senior Scientists. 
Two post-doctoral fellows continued their studies 
at OBP as sponsored by the NRF’s Professional 
Development Programme. The Unit also trained 3 
interns in the field of vaccine development as part of 
human capacity development as sponsored by the 
NRF and the Department of Trade and Industry.

FUNDING OPPORTUNITIES 

The R&D unit responded to a number of competitive 
funding calls and the following were awarded or 
renewed:
• Ms Boitumelo Moetlhoa and Mrs Nokukhanya 

Ncube’s funding applications were approved for 
the NRF Thuthuka PhD track funding.

• The Hong Kong Jockey Club provided OBP with a 
funding of R 1.8 million.

SCIENTIFIC PRESENTATIONS 

• Dr Nobalanda Mokoena was invited to present at 
WITS/SAMRC Antiviral Gene Therapy Research Unit 
within the Department of Molecular Medicine and 
Haematology on the 18th November 2019. 



38   | ONDERSTEPOORT BIOLOGICAL PRODUCTS SOC LTD 

• Dr Otto Koekemoer delivered a keynote lecture on the 12th of February 2020, at the Virology Africa Conference 
in Cape Town. The title of the lecture was “African horse sickness vaccines: Are we running in circles?” 

• Dr Otto Koekemoer delivered a presentation on 23 February 2020, entitled “African Horse sickness vaccines” 
at the annual SA Equine Veterinary Association (SAEVA) congress in Skukuza, KNP.

INTERNATIONAL VISITS

• Drs Otto Koekemoer and Bethuel Nthangeni visited the Moredun research institute in Scotland and the Pirbright 
institute in England during 16 – 18 September 2019 for vaccine product development process benchmarking. 

• Dr Nobalanda Mokoena and Ms Boitumelo attended TRANSVAC2 training on M9 on “Key considerations and best 
practices for viral vaccine process development, scale-up and implementation at manufacturing scale including 
single use technologies” in Molsheim, France on the 10-11 September 2019. 

PEER REVIEWED PUBLICATIONS 

• Rutkowska DA, Mokoena NB, Tsekoa TL, Dibakwane VS and O’Kennedy MM. Plant-produced chimeric virus-like 
particles - a new generation vaccine against African horse sickness, 2019. BMC Veterinary Research 15: doi:10.1186/
s12917-019-2184-2

•   Mokoena NB, Moetlhoa B, Rutkowska DA, Mamputha S, Dibakwane VS, Tsekoa TL and O’Kennedy MM. 
  Plant-produced Bluetongue chimaeric VLP vaccine candidates elicit serotype-specific immunity in sheep, 2019. 

Vaccine Journal 37:6068-607

REPORT OF THE
CHIEF SCIENTIFIC OFFICER
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REPORT OF THE
OPERATIONS EXECUTIVE
This was a difficult year for production due to 
process and equipment challenges in different 
units exacerbated by the lack of leadership, 
guidance and expertise in crucial departments. 
Production progressed under these circumstances 
as we continue to service our customers. The high 
rejection rates in Bacterial and Viral vaccines as a 
result two consultants were brought on board for 
troubleshooting and to use their previous knowledge 
of OBP processes for guidance. 

PRODUCTION UPDATE 

The 2019/20 financial year saw a disappointing 
set of results from operations particularly with the 
Bacterial Vaccines antigen output being at its lowest 
due to fermenter breakdowns. Whilst formulation 
and filling continued, the overall output was far less 
than expected.  

The other areas of production continued to produce 
as expected from viral vaccines to packaging. More 
Bluetongue, LSD and AHS batches were produced. 
On the utilities side, production was hampered by 
the extended downtime on the water for injection 
(WFI) plant which underwent a complete overhaul 
following a breakdown. During this time, only Reverse 
Osmosis (RO) produced water was available for 
production which meant fewer batches of diluent 
could be filled. The WFI plant is back in full operation 

The troubleshooting in viral vaccines by Dr Pam 
Oberem, a Virologist analysed different aspects 
of production from raw materials preparation 
into harvest stages. The preparations for the 
implementation of some of the recommendations to 
resolve viral vaccines production issues (Bluetongue 
potency) has shown progress with the involvement 
of Research and Development.   

The bacterial process troubleshooting by Mr Hennie 
Prinsloo (Former OBP Production Manager) who 
has a vast knowledge of bacterial processes, was 
yielding results when the unit started experiencing 
breakdown of fermenters.  

ENGINEERING, MAINTENANCE & UTILITIES 

The Maintenance division functioned in “fire fight” 
mode as evident in the increasing number of 
breakdowns due to maintenance. The team was 
severely strained, critical systems were severely 
compromised.  An external consulting firm was 
brought in to assess the maintenance department 
in terms of the systems in place and the report 
revealed an extent of inadequacy of Management 
and the systems.  

GMP PROJECT 

The GMP project progress was on track and began to 
slow down due to financial challenges and the March 
lockdown. There was an overspent on unplanned 
activities which led to a deficit, approval is sought to 
source more funding to complete the project. 

There are time constraints associated with timely 
completion of the GMP Project in order to ensure that 
OBP become cGMP compliance whilst producing at 
the same time. This will require close planning and risk 
mitigation at all levels throughout the project. 
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REPORT OF THE
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

1.    INTRODUCTION

The vaccines market continued to be under pressure 
during the current financial year, with slow growth 
experienced by the industry player’s year on year 
and, in addition to OBP’s dimension, the ageing 
equipment continued to breathe heavily on the 
overall performance. The business is in the process 
of upgrading the production facility and construction 
is underway.

The competition has also increased over the number 
of years and eaten up the OBP’s market share.

During the 2012/13 financial year, the shareholder 
approved the funding of R492 million over the 
Medium-Term Expenditure Framework period 
for modernisation of the current facility, of which 
R492 million was transferred by the shareholder 
to the company to date.  The cash injection by the 
shareholder will bring some production stability 
within the organisation and position OBP as a force to 
be reckoned with in the market by claiming back the 
lost market share with improved economies of scale.

During December 2017, the GMP construction project 
started and is expected to be completed within 
the next three years. This will assist in ramping up 
production output to the benefit of our customers.

2.    FINANCE

The Finance Department is responsible for the 
Financial Management, Supply Chain Management 
and Information Technology sections within 
Onderstepoort Biological Products SOC Limited. 
It strives for effective and efficient financial 
management and internal controls in alignment with 
the strategic objectives of the organisation.

The department is guided by the following statutes in 
the execution of its duties:
• Public Finance Management Act no.1 of 1999
• Treasury Regulations
• Preferential Procurement Policy Framework
• Income Tax Act 58 of 1962
• VAT Act 89 of 1991

2.1     FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT

This section focuses on maintaining and implementing 
sound financial management processes and controls, 
and ensuring compliance to all relevant legislation. 
Key functions of the department include financial 

administration, accounting, treasury management 
and reporting. The finance, sales and procurement 
modules of Enterprise Resource Planning system 
(ERP) have been fully operational during the current 
financial year. The response to the system by users 
has been positive and the improved reporting 
process is evident.

2.2     SUPPLY CHAIN AND DISTRIBUTIONS

The Supply Chain Management Division is made 
up of three departments - namely, Procurement, 
Production Planning and Distribution (Dispatch). The 
main role of the division is to provide an integrated 
Supply Chain through effective planning, sourcing, 
manufacturing and delivery of OBP products, which is 
underpinned by a strong technology platform. OBP’s 
Supply Chain Management Division is corporately 
mandated to work closely with other key functions 
in the company in ensuring that these functions are 
fully supported. One of the key functions of the 
procurement sub-division is the management of a 
supplier base and inventory to ensure a continuous 
supply of quality materials to the production 
functions. Also, key to the procurement function is the 
compliance to relevant Treasury Regulations and the 
Public Finance Management Act.  

Onderstepoort Biological Product SOC achieved 
an average of 86% procurement spend on BEE 
individuals/organisations for the year under review. 
The procurement policy has been updated and 
approved by the board during the year under review. 
There was a spend of 37% on Black women-owned 
individuals/organisations and 55% spend on Black-
owned individuals/organisations

We have embarked on a project of updating the 
supplier database with all the necessary supplier 
information, i.e. BEE certificates, Tax clearance 
certificates, etc.

The company is in the process of obtaining the BEE 
certification in line with Agri-BEE guidelines as issued 
by the Department of Trade and Industry (DTI).

2.3     INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY

This section focuses on IT governance, security and 
support of users within the organisation. Information 
Technology is a critical department within the 
organisation in ensuring that the business meets its 
objectives through utilisation of technology. 
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During the financial year under review, a secure 
customer web portal was introduced, through which 
OBP customers can place and manage their orders 
online. This forms part of the IT Unit’s initiatives to be 
an enabler and to promote the use of technology 
within the business. The IT risk profile was reviewed, 
updated and monitored regularly in line with the risk 
demands of the organisation based on the adopted 
risk methodology. This includes the IT and ERP risk 
registers. 

The Audit, Risk and IT Committee, as delegated 
by the Board of Directors met quarterly during 
the financial year to process and consider the IT 
Steering Committee and ERP reports, in order to 
intervene on matters requiring their interventions, 
as recommended by the IT Steering and Executive 
Management Committees. 

2.4     RESULTS FROM OPERATIONS

The financial performance of the company has 
improved as a result of improved production 
outputs and new markets. Our international sales 
have continued to exceed the target in line with our 
strategic view of export is our future.

24.1     Revenue

Revenue increased to R177 million for the year under 
review compared to the previous year. The sustained 
revenue level is mainly attributable to consistency in 
production outputs of finished products compared 
to the prior year. Before the 2016/17 financial year, 
we saw most of our products not being able to be 
produced. The troubleshooting exercise reported in 
the prior year’s began to show positive results since 
2016/17, and we expect the positive output trajectory 
to be maintained and to continue going forward. 

2020 % 
Change 2019

Revenue 177 733 459 9% 163 026 312

Expenditure 174 649 035 -38%  126 091 766

Property Plant and Equipment 333 737 435 33% 251 535 666

Cash and Cash Equivalents 286 239 030 -27% 394 553 267

The favourable market conditions internationally 
and the rand devaluation against our major trading 
partner currencies contributed to the sustained 
revenue level. International markets for our products 
continue to be our strategic route in diversification.

2.4.2     Gross margin

A gross margin of 63% was realised compared to 
the gross profit of 75% for the same period last year. 
The gross profit margin is mainly due to product mix 
with higher margin products being sold - for example, 
African Horse Sickness, Blue Tongue, international 
sales (Dollar and Euro denominated) and cost control 
relating to direct input costs.

2.4.3     Other Income

Other income amounted to R25 million for the year 
under review. The amount exceeded the prior year 
by R9 million. The performance of the South African 
rand against major trading currencies generated the 
gain of R23.6 million during the year under review and 
the foreign exchange gain is attributable to natural 
hedging through our Euro and Dollar dominated 
accounts. Covid-19 also affected the rand to 
depreciate even further which resulted in gains for 
anyone holding foreign currencies.

2.4.4     Operating and Administrative Expenses

The overall business expenditure increased by 
27% year on year. The main contributor to this 
increase relates to personnel costs. This was due to 
settlements of Executive members resigning during 
the current year under review. 

Year on year the operating and administration 
expenses remained stable with the exclusion of the 
bonus provision.

2.4.5     Investment income

Investment income decreased to R19 million in 
the current financial year compared to R30 million 
reported during the prior year, and the decrease 
could be attributed to the payments made for the 
GMP project, which resulted in outflows of cash.

REPORT OF THE
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
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2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Gross margin 75% 85% 83% 75% 63%

Current ratio 22.01 10.33 15.63 28.32 20.61

Quick ratio 3.14 9.52 14.40 23.50 16.77

Return on asset -3% 6% 6% 5% -1%

2.5     ORGANISATIONAL PERFORMANCE 1.6 FINANCIAL POSITION

Our financial position has improved over the period 
primarily due to the cash injection by the shareholder 
for the plant recapitalisation programme. Net cash 
balances at 31 March 2020 of R286 million represent 
a decrease of R108 million over the period under 
review.

Our strong financial position allows us to build 
a Good Manufacturing Facility (GMP) to access 
the international markets and to pursue growth 
opportunities across Africa and the rest of the world 
when they arise.

1.7 DELIVERING VALUE TO STAKEHOLDERS

We return value to our shareholder by ensuring 
that government priorities are met, especially by 
alleviating poverty through food security.

1.8 ISSUE GOING FORWARD 

We remain cognisant of the need to deliver 
continually to our stakeholders by improving our 
operational performance and paying attention to 
efficiency, revenue maximisation, cutting costs and 
affordable pricing of our products.

An increased production of sufficient doses will cater 
for local and export market.

1.9 KEY FINANCIAL RISKS

A significant number of machinery acquisition 
from overseas suppliers is envisaged over the 
Medium-term Expenditure Framework (MTEF). 
Exchange rate risk will be managed through 
awareness of currency risk related transactions. 
The company has a formal foreign exchange policy 
approved by the board, which guides currency risk 
management, carried out by the business. Currency 
risks are partially hedge through set-off effects of 
foreign currency assets and liabilities, and by means 
of forward exchange contracts.

REPORT OF THE
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

Figure 2.5(A): Five-year financial performance of OBP

Figure 2.5(B): Five-year financial position of OBP

Figure 2.5(C): Five-year Cash Flows and Cash Reserves of OBP

Figure 2.5(D): Five-year key ratios of OBP
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1. Executive Summary 

2.. Annual Performance Report for Financial Year 2019/20

 2.1 Strategic Goal 1
  To  ensure financial sustainability

 2.2 Strategic Goal 2
  To ensure a Globally competitive product and service portfolio  

 2.3 Strategic Goal 3
  To ensure business excellence within the organisation

 2.4 Strategic Goal 4
  To contribute to Government priorities with respect to socio-economic development
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1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

The overall achieved 2019/20 performance is 46%, the same as 2018/19 financial year. The sales performance 
is R177 million compared to R163 million of 2018/19.  Though an annual financial target of R234 million was not 
achieved, the company did well against 2018/19 financial year with an over performance of R14 million. The loss 
of sales was due to failure to honour international orders, due to the lockdown restrictions on transportation 
internationally.

On the HR front, the training of staff was reviewed to align it to the jobs and strategic objectives of the organisation. 
The training planned for the year was hampered by the lockdown measures regarding meetings/gatherings and 
social distancing. The resignation of senior staff members impacted on performance reviews for staff members. 

ANNUAL PERFORMANCE  
REPORT

2. ANNUAL PERFORMANCE REPORT FOR FINANCIAL YEAR 2019/20

2.1 Strategic Goal 1 

Strategic Goal 1 TO ENSURE FINANCIAL SUSTAINABILITY

Goal statement To build a world-class organisation to ensure financial sustainability.

Strategic Objective 1.1 Improve financial performance

Objective Statement
Increase gross sales revenue 
Improve Profit Before Tax and Interest)

Baseline
R186 million (Gross revenue)
R17 million (Operating profit)

Justification There is a need to ensure profitability and sustainability of the organisation. 

Strategic Objective Key 
Performance Indicator

2018/19 
Performance 

(Baseline)

2019/20 
Performance Variance Reason for 

Variance
Target Actual

1.1 
Improve financial performance

Gross sales revenue R163m R234m R177m -R57m Could not honour 
international 
contract orders 
due to the lock-
downOperating profit R17.8m R37m (R19.2m) -R57.8m

1.2
Improve production facilities

Production facilities 
modernisation plan 
implementation targets 
met (%)

83% of 
bacterial and 
viral vaccine 
construction 
completed

90% 70% -20%

Progress was 
halted by the 
lockdown. 
More funding is 
required for the 
project 

1.3
Ensure production efficiency Production efficiency 

index 7.8 16 + 8.2

Reduced failure 
rate including 
some key 
equipment
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2.1 Strategic Goal 2 

Strategic Goal 2 TO ENSURE A GLOBALLY COMPETITIVE PRODUCT AND SERVICE PORTFOLIO

Goal statement To be a customer-driven organisation through innovation technology and service.

Strategic Objective 2.1 Improve customer satisfaction

Objective Statement
To improve and maintain customer satisfaction by implementing a marketing 
strategy, customer relations strategy and distribution strategy.

Baseline Customer satisfaction index 6.1

Justification
The key requirement for the success of the organisation is its engagement with 
stakeholders and customer to ensure that their needs are met. 

Strategic Objective 2.2 Expand product portfolio 

Objective Statement
To ensure a portfolio of competitive products through own development and 
acquisition.

Baseline No baseline

Justification
The improvement of the organisation’s competitiveness by a competitive product / 
service portfolio. 

Strategic Objective
Key 

Performance 
Indicator

2018/19 
Performance 

(Baseline)

2019/20 
Performance Vari-

ance
Reason for 
Variance

Target Actual

2.1
Improve customer satisfaction

Customer 
satisfaction 
index 

47% 7.5 7.8 0.3

The survey was 
completed after 
delay due to lock-
down

2.2 
Expand product portfolio Product portfolio 

index

No new dossier 
was submitted 
for registration

4 Dossiers were 
improved and 
submitted for 
registration

100% of  
-1 new 
vaccine 
dossier 
submitted 
to the 
registration
-2 current 
products 
improved

66%, 
2 current 
products 
im-
proved 
were 
sub-
mitted 
to the 
registrar

-33% 

Unforeseen delays 
regarding 
statutory approval 
of research 
protocols.
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2.1 Strategic Goal 3

Strategic Goal 3 TO ENSURE BUSINESS EXCELLENCE WITHIN THE ORGANISATION

Goal statement Ensure effective business management.

Strategic Objective 3.1 Improve customer satisfaction

Objective Statement
To manage the business through key business processes such as, corporate 
governance, corporate branding, stakeholder engagement, business performance 
management, organisational culture development and strategic business positioning. 

Baseline
Unqualified audit
Employee satisfaction increase:  No baseline
ISO accreditation maintained

Justification To ensure effective business management / leadership of the organisation

Strategic Objective 3.2 Ensure effective resource management

Objective Statement
To manage human resources, finances, technology, infrastructure, and information / 
knowledge 

Baseline
Performance management policy implemented
Training implemented against training plan: No baseline

Justification To ensure effective resource management of the organisation

Strategic Objective
Key 

Performance 
Indicator

2018/19 
Performance 

(Baseline)

2019/20 
Performance Variance Reasons for a 

Variance
Target Actual

3.1
Ensure effective business 
management

Audit opinion Unqualified 
Audit

Clean 
Audit

All the quarterly 
reports were 
submitted by 
the due date 

- Target met

Employee 
satisfaction 
increase (%)

-

3% 
from 

base-
line

58.2% -

There was no 
survey conducted 
in 2018/2019, this 
survey serves as 
a baseline.

3.2
Ensure effective resource 
management

ISO accreditation 
maintained (%) - 100% ISO accredita-

tion maintained -
Target met, ISO 
accreditation was 
maintained

Performance 
reviews conducted 
(%)

90% 
performance 
reviews 
conducted

100% 92% -8%

Inadequate 
time and lack of 
evidence due to 
changing acting 
roles of Managers.

Training 
implemented 
against training 
plan (%)

84% training 
was 
implemented 
against 
training plan

90%

83% of training 
was imple-
mented against 
to the training 
plan

-7%

Training planned 
was mostly group 
training and all 
was halted due 
to the lockdown 
measures on 
gatherings.
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2.1 Strategic Goal 4

Strategic Goal 4 TO CONTRIBUTE TO GOVERNMENT PRIORITIES WITH RESPECT TO                                 
SOCIO-ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

Goal statement
Contribute and support emerging farmers, food security and socio-economic growth 
through government programmes.

Strategic Objective 4.1 Ensure product accessibility to emerging farmers

Objective Statement
To support small holder and emerging farmer by implementing a distribution 
channels in rural areas to ensure product accessibility.

Baseline No baseline

Justification

OBP’s current declining vaccine sales and market share reflects the number of 
farmers it is affecting.  The sales figures and market share among smallholder 
farmers are much less than for commercial farmers.  No jobs have been created or 
funding facilitated for smallholder and emerging farmers. 

Strategic Objective 4.2 Improve OBP BBBEE Scorecard

Objective Statement
Contribute in the transformation of the South African economy by allowing 
meaningful participation of previously disadvantaged individuals in the economy.

Baseline No baseline

Justification
BBBEE needs to be implemented in an effective and sustainable manner to harness 
and enable full potential of previously disadvantaged individuals to contribute 
meaningfully in the South African economy.

Strategic Objective
Key 

Performance 
Indicator

2018/19 
Performance 

(Baseline)

2019/20 
Performance Variance Reason for 

Variance
Target Actual

4.1
Ensure product accessibility to 
emerging farmers

Number of new 
distribution 
points in rural 
areas

10 2 4 +2 Target exceeded 
by 2

4.2
Improve OBP BBBEE Scorecard BBBEE Scorecard 

Level
Level 5 
discounted to 6 Level 5 -

level 5 
discounted 

to 6

Delays in sending 
2019/20 data 
collected for 
evaluation to a 
service provider 
due to challenges in 
the SCM division
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1. Audit Committee Members and Attendance

Name: Mr Y Haffejee (Chairperson) |  Ms K Mdlulwa | Dr P Vervoort | Ms F Mphuthi

* Respective membership of the Audit and Risk Committees from August 2017 comprised of the members listed 
below. The Audit Committee should meet four times per annum as per its approved terms of reference. During the 
current year (2019/20) the Audit Committee met four times with attendance as follows: 

SCHEDULE OF ATTENDANCE AT AUDIT COMMITTEE MEETINGS APR 2019 JULY 2019 OCT 2019 JAN 2020
Mr Yaasir Haffejee (Chairperson) Yes Yes Yes Yes

*Ms KT Mdlulwa Yes Yes No No

Dr Pieter Vervoort Yes No Yes Yes

Ms Fulufhelo Mphuthi Yes Yes Yes Yes

   * Ms KT Mdlulwa resigned on the 7th March 2020

2.    The Effectiveness of Internal Control
The audit committee is committed to ensuring good 
governance and full compliance with relevant legislation 
and regulations as well as improvement in internal 
controls and the quality of reporting.

3.    Internal Audit
The Internal audit function of OBP was conducted by 
Morar Incorporated for the period ending 31 March 2020. 
During the current financial year the function has been 
fully operational.

4.    Risk management
The Committee is satisfied that OBP has an ongoing risk 
management process, focused on identifying, assessing, 
managing and monitoring all known forms of significant 
risks across all operations. This has been in place for the 
year under review and up to the date of approval of the 
annual financial statements. It is important that controls 
implemented to address risks are implemented and 
regularly reviewed.

5.   Evaluation of financial statements
The Audit Committee has evaluated the annual financial 
statements of OBP for the year ended 31 March 2020, 
and based on the information provided to the Audit and 
Risk Committee, considers that it complies in all material 
respects with the requirements of the various acts 
governing disclosure and reporting on the annual financial 
statements.

6.   Irregular and Fruitless and Wasteful Expenditure
The Audit Committee notes with concern the identification 
of fruitless and wasteful expenditure and irregular 
expenditure reported in notes 34 and 35 respectively 
to the Annual Financial Statements. An investigation into 
the fruitless and wasteful has been instituted and an 
outcome is expected in the 2020/21 Financial Year

The Audit Committee concurs with and accepts the 
Auditor-General of South Africa’s report of the annual 
financial statements, and is of the opinion that the audited 
annual financial statements should be accepted and be 
read together with the report of the Auditor-General of 
South Africa.

7.    The Audit Committee has:
• Reviewed and discussed the audited annual financial 

statements to be included in the annual report with 
the Auditor-General and Morar Incorporated internal 
auditors.

• Reviewed the Auditor-General of South Africa’s 
management letter and management’s response 
thereto.

• Reviewed changes in accounting policies and 
practices.

• Reviewed the entities compliance with legal and 
regulatory provisions.

• Reviewed significant adjustments resulting from the 
audit.

The Audit Committee concurs with and accepts the 
Auditor-General of South Africa’s report of the annual 
financial statements, and is of the opinion that the audited 
annual financial statements should be accepted and be 
read together with the report of the Auditor-General of 
South Africa.

On behalf of the audit committee

Chairperson of the Audit, Risk and IT Committee  
31 July 2020

AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT



| 59   ANNUAL REPORT 2019 2020

ONDERSTEPOORT BIOLOGICAL PRODUCTS SOC LTD
[Registration Number 2000/022686/06]
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2020

The Accounting Authority is required by the Public Finance Management Act (Act 1 of 1999) to maintain adequate 
accounting records, and is responsible for the content and integrity of the annual financial statements and related 
financial information presented in this annual report. It is the responsibility of the Accounting Authority to ensure that the 
annual financial statements fairly represent the state of affairs of the public entity as at the end of the financial year, and 
the results of its operations and cash flows for the period then ended.

The Accounting Authority‘s responsibility for the financial affairs of the entity is supported by the entity’s external auditors.

The annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards, 
including any interpretations, guidelines and directives issued by the Accounting Standards Board. The annual financial 
statements are based upon appropriate accounting policies consistently applied, and are supported by reasonable and 
prudent judgements and estimates. The Auditor General as external auditor was given unrestricted access to all financial 
records and related data to facilitate an independent review and report on the entity’s annual financial statements and 
to express an independent opinion on the annual financial statements.

The Accounting Authority acknowledges that it is ultimately responsible for the system of internal financial control 
established by the entity, and places considerable importance on maintaining a strong control environment. The fulfilment 
of this responsibility is discharged through the establishment and maintenance of sound management and accounting 
systems and through setting standards for internal control which include the proper delegation of responsibilities within a 
clearly defined framework, effective accounting procedures and adequate segregation of duties aimed at reducing the 
risk of error or deficit in a cost effective manner.

These controls are monitored throughout the entity and management and employees are expected to operate within 
a framework requiring compliance with all applicable laws and maintenance of the highest integrity in the conduct of all 
aspects of the business. The focus of risk management in the entity is on identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring 
all known forms of risk across the entity. While operating risk cannot be fully eliminated, the entity endeavours to minimise 
it by ensuring that appropriate infrastructure, controls, systems and ethical behaviour are applied and managed within 
predetermined procedures and constraints.

The Accounting Authority is committed to ensuring good governance and compliance with all relevant legislation and 
regulations applicable to Onderstepoort Biological Products.

The Accounting Authority is of the opinion that, based on the information and explanations given by management, the 
system  of internal control provides reasonable assurance that the financial records may be relied on for the preparation 
of the annual financial statements. However, any system of internal financial control can provide only reasonable and 
not absolute assurance against material misstatement or deficit.

The going concern basis has been adopted in preparing the financial statements. The Accounting Authority has reviewed 
the entity’s cash flow forecast for the year to 31 March 2021 and, in the light of this review and the current financial 
position, is satisfied that the entity has access to adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the 
foreseeable future.

The annual financial statements, which have been prepared on the going concern basis, were approved by the Accounting 
Authority on 31 May 2020 and were signed on its behalf by:

Mr TR Ramabulana
Onderstepoort Biological Products SOC Ltd 
Chairperson of the Board

ACCOUNTING AUTHORITY’S RESPONSIBILITIES AND APPROVAL
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CERTIFICATE BY THE ACTING COMPANY SECRETARY

For the year ended 31 March 2020

I hereby confirm, in terms of the Companies Act, 2008 as amended, that for the year ended 31 March 2020 the company has 
lodged with the Registrar of Companies all such returns as are required of a public company in terms of this act and that all 
such returns are true, correct and up-to-date.

Miss LL Mabena
Acting Company Secretary
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ONDERSTEPOORT BIOLOGICAL PRODUCTS SOC LTD
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REPORT OF THE AUDITOR-GENERAL TO PARLIAMENT

OPINION

1.  I have audited the financial statements of Onderstepoort Biological Products SOC LTD set out on pages 71 to 108, which 
comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 March 2020, statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes 
in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, as well as the notes to the financial statements, including a 
summary of significant accounting policies.

2.  In my opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Onderstepoort Biological 
Products SOC LTD as at 31 March 2020, and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance 
with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the requirements of the Public Finance Management Act of 
South Africa, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999) (PFMA) and the Companies Act of South Africa, 2008 (Act No. 71 of 2008) (Companies 
Act).

BASIS FOR OPINION

3.  I conducted my audit in accordance with the International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). My responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the auditor-general’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of this 
auditor’s report.

4.  I am independent of the public entity in accordance with sections 290 and 291 of the Code of ethics for professional 
accountants and parts 1 and 3 of the International code of ethics for professional accountants (including International 
Independence Standards) of the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants (IESBA codes) as well as the ethical 
requirements that are relevant to my audit in South Africa. I have fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
these requirements and the IESBA codes.

5.  I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion.

EMPHASIS OF MATTERS

6. I draw attention to the matters below. My opinion is not modified in respect of these matters.

RESTATEMENT OF PRIOR YEAR FIGURES

7. As disclosed in note 28 to the financial statements, the corresponding figures for 31 March 2019 were restated as a result of 
errors in the financial statements of the public entity for the year ended 31 March 2020.

SIGNIFICANT INVENTORY WRITE-OFFS

8. As disclosed in note 18 to the financial statements, the public entity suffered significant inventory losses during the year ended 
31 March 2020.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE ACCOUNTING AUTHORITY FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

9. The board of directors, which constitutes the accounting authority, is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of 
the financial statements in accordance with the IFRS and the requirements of the PFMA and the Companies Act, and for such 
internal control as the accounting authority determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

10. In preparing the financial statements, the accounting authority is responsible for assessing the public entity’s ability to continue 
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REPORT OF THE AUDITOR-GENERAL TO PARLIAMENT

as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting 
unless the appropriate governance structure either intends to liquidate the public entity or to cease operations, or has no 
realistic alternative but to do so.

AUDITOR-GENERAL’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

11. My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance 
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the ISAs will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 
or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the 
financial statements.

12. A further description of my responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is included in the annexure to this auditor’s 
report.

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE ANNUAL PERFORMANCE REPORT

INTRODUCTION AND SCOPE

13. In accordance with the Public Audit Act of South Africa, 2004 (Act No. 25 of 2004) (PAA) and the general notice issued in terms 
thereof, I have a responsibility to report material findings on the reported performance information against predetermined 
objectives for selected objectives presented in the annual performance report. I performed procedures to identify findings but 
not to gather evidence to express assurance.

14. My procedures address the reported performance information, which must be based on the approved performance planning 
documents of the public entity. I have not evaluated the completeness and appropriateness of the performance indicators/
measures included in the planning documents. My procedures do not examine whether the actions taken by the public entity 
enabled service delivery. My procedures also did not extend to any disclosures or assertions relating to planned performance 
strategies and information in respect of future periods that may be included as part of the reported performance information. 
Accordingly, my findings do not extend to these matters.

15. I evaluated the usefulness and reliability of the reported performance information  in accordance with the criteria developed 
from the performance management and reporting framework, as defined in the general notice, for the following selected 
objective presented in the annual performance report of the public entity for the year ended 31 March 2020:

16. I performed procedures to determine whether the reported performance information was properly presented and whether 
performance was consistent with the approved performance planning documents. I performed further procedures to 
determine whether the indicators and related targets were measurable and relevant, and assessed the reliability of the 
reported performance information to determine whether it was valid, accurate and complete.

17. I did not identify any material findings on the usefulness and reliability of the reported performance information for this 
objective:

 • Objective 1: to ensure financial sustainability

OBJECTIVE PAGE IN THE ANNUAL PERFORMANCE REPORT

Objective 1 - to ensure financial sustainability 48
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OTHER MATTER

18. I draw attention to the matter below.

ACHIEVEMENT OF PLANNED TARGETS

Refer to the annual performance report on pages 47 to 53 for information on the achievement of planned targets for the year and 
explanations provided for the under-/ over achievement of a number of targets.

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF COMPLIANCE WITH LEGISLATION

INTRODUCTION AND SCOPE

19. In accordance with the PAA and the general notice issued in terms thereof, I have a responsibility to report material findings on 
the compliance of the public entity with specific matters in key legislation. I performed procedures to identify findings but not 
to  gather evidence to express assurance.

20. The material findings on compliance with specific matters in key legislation are as follows:

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

21. The financial statements submitted for auditing were not prepared in accordance with the prescribed financial reporting 
framework, as required by section 55(1)(a) of the PFMA.

22. Material misstatements of property, plant and equipment, inventories, deferred tax, accruals, commitments and retained 
earnings identified by the auditors in the submitted financial statements were corrected, resulting in the financial statements 
receiving an unqualified audit opinion.

EXPENDITURE MANAGEMENT

23. Effective and appropriate steps were not taken to prevent irregular expenditure amounting to R1 999 008 incurred in 2019-
20, as disclosed in note 35 of the financial statements, as  required by section 51(1)(b)(ii) of the PFMA. Most of the irregular 
expenditure was caused by the contravention of supply chain management processes.

 

OTHER INFORMATION 

24. The accounting authority is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in 
the annual report, which includes the directors’ report, the audit committee’s report and the company secretary’s certificate, as 
required by the Companies Act. The other information does not include the financial statements, the auditor’s report and those 
selected objectives presented in the annual performance report that have been specifically reported in this auditor’s report.

25. My opinion on the financial statements and findings on compliance with legislation do not cover the other information and I 
do not express an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

26. In connection with my audit, my responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other 
information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements and the selected objectives presented in the annual 
performance report, or my knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

27. I did not receive the other information prior to the date of this auditor’s report. When I do receive and read this information, 
and if I conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, I am required to communicate the matter to those charged with 
governance and request that the other information be corrected. If the other information is not corrected, I may have to retract 

OBJECTIVE PAGE IN THE ANNUAL PERFORMANCE REPORT

Objective 1 - to ensure financial sustainability 48
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this auditor’s report and re-issue an amended report as appropriate. However, if it is corrected this will not be necessary.

INTERNAL CONTROL DEFICIENCIES

28. I considered internal control relevant to my audit of the financial statements, reported performance information and compliance 
with applicable legislation; however, my objective was not to express any form of assurance on it. The matters reported below 
are limited to the significant internal control deficiencies that resulted in the findings on compliance with legislation included in 
this report.

29. Oversight of financial reporting compliance with the IFRS was inadequate. This resulted in material adjustments to the financial 
statements submitted for auditing. Management did not exercise oversight responsibility regarding financial and related internal 
controls, as the accounting officer did not properly review the financial statements before submitting them for auditing.

30. The financial statements contained material misstatements that had to be corrected as a result of inadequate reviews being 
performed at the required assurance levels to detect and correct such misstatements prior to the submission for auditing.

31. The public  entity’s  system  to  monitor  compliance  with  applicable  legislation  was  not  always effective. Non-compliance 
with legislation could have been prevented had compliance been properly reviewed and monitored.

OTHER REPORTS 

32. I draw attention to the following engagements conducted by various parties that have, or could potentially have, an impact 
on the public entity’s financial statements, reported performance information and compliance with applicable legislation and 
other related matters.

 
33. At the date of audit report, an ongoing investigation is being conducted by the internal audit  unit into allegations of corruption 

and fraud at the public entity.

REPORT OF THE AUDITOR-GENERAL TO PARLIAMENT

Pretoria
30 September 2020
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ANNEXURE - AUDITOR-GENERAL’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE AUDIT

1. As part of an audit in accordance with the ISAs, I exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism 
throughout· my audit of the financial statements and the procedures performed on reported performance information for 
selected objectives and on the public entity’s compliance with respect to the selected subject matters.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. In addition to my responsibility for the audit of the financial statements as described in this auditor’s report, I also:
• identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements whether due to fraud or error, design 

and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for my opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override 
of internal control

• obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the public entity’s internal 
control

• evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by the board of directors, which constitutes the accounting authority

• conclude on the appropriateness of the use of the going concern basis of accounting by the board of directors, which 
constitutes the accounting authority, in the preparation of the financial statements. I also conclude, based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt 
on the public entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. If I conclude that a material uncertainty exists, I am required to 
draw attention in my auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements about the material uncertainty 
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify the opinion on the financial statements. My conclusions are based on the 
information available to me at the date of this auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause a public 
entity to cease continuing as a going concern

• evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether 
the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation

COMMUNICATION WITH THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE

3. I communicate with the accounting authority regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that I identify during my audit.

4. I also confirm to the accounting authority that I have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and 
communicate all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to have a bearing on my independence 
and, where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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1. Presentation

The Directors present their annual report, which forms part of the audited financial statements of Onderstepoort Biological 
Products SOC Ltd for the year ended 31 March 2020.

2. Nature of business

OBP is a public company that operates in the bio-technical industry and is wholly owned by the Government of South 
Africa. The company manufactures vaccines for the animal health care industry, primarily in South Africa and Africa, 
as well as a number of other countries. Sales volume is correlated to disease outbreaks, preventative and legislated 
vaccination programs. OBP produces the widest range of products for livestock in Africa and competes with large 
multinational pharmaceutical companies for local and foreign business.

3. Dividends

In view of the need to retain cash for the planned upgrade of manufacturing facilities, no dividend has been declared and 
none is recommended.

4. Share capital

The authorised and issued share capital is 1000 ordinary shares of R1 each. There has been no change in the authorised 
and issued share capital during the year under review R1 000 (2019: R 1 000).

5. Ownership

The company is wholly owned by the Government, which is represented by the Minister of Agriculture, Land Reform and 

Rural Development of South Africa as Executive Authority.

6. Board of Directors

During the year under review the following non-executive Directors were in office: 
Name Designation
Ms K Mdlulwa Independent non-executive  Resigned 7 March 2020
Ms F Mphuthi Independent non-executive
Mr Y Haffejee Independent Non-executive
Mr R Ramabulana (Chairperson) Independent non-executive
Dr P Vervoort Non-executive
Dr C Nkuna Non-executive

Directors are appointed for a three-year term and can be re-appointed by the Shareholder for a second three-year 
term. 

Details of Directors’ remuneration are set out in Note 19 of the Annual Financial Statements on pages 30

The board term resumed on 1 August 2017.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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7. Company Secretary

The Acting Company Secretary is Ms Lindiwe Mabena of:

Business address 100 Old Soutpan Road 
 Onderstepoort 
 0110

8. Company domicile and address of registered office

The domicile and registered address of Onderstepoort Biological Products (SOC) Ltd is:

100 Old Soutpan Road 
Onderstepoort
0110

9. Auditor

The Auditor General of South Africa was appointed as external Auditors for the period under review in accordance with 
Section 270(2) of the Companies Act 71 of 2008.

10. Special resolutions

There was no special resolution passed by the Accounting Authority during the year under review.

11. Amendment of articles of association

The Memorandum of Incorporation (MOI) has been reviewed, finalised and lodged with CIPC to comply with the new 
Companies Act 71 of 2008.

12. Going concern

We draw attention to the fact that at 31 March 2020, the company had accumulated profits of R 270 884 029 and that the 
company’s total assets exceed its liabilities by R 270 845 029. The difference of R1 000 between the accumulated profits 
and net assets is the share capital.

The annual financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting policies applicable to a going concern. 
This basis presumes that funds will be available to finance future operations and that the realisation of assets and 
settlement of liabilities, contingent obligations and commitments will occur in the ordinary course of business.

The company has achieved profits in 20119/20 financial.

The Directors therefore believe that the company has adequate plans, products, equipment and resources in place to 
continue operations for the foreseeable future. The Financial Statements have accordingly been prepared on a going-
concern basis.

13. Events subsequent to the balance sheet date

The directors are not aware of any other fact or circumstance arising since the end of the financial year not otherwise 

Postal address  Private Bag x 07 
 Onderstepoort
 0110

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

dealt with in these financial statements, which would materially affect the operations of the company.

14. Conflict of interest

All Directors have declared that they do not have any conflict of interest relating to any business dealings of Onderstepoort 
Biological Products (SOC) Ltd.

15. Audit committee

The audit committee met four times during the year and has, in accordance with its adopted Charter, reviewed the 
internal and external audits for the previous and present financial years and the Annual Financial Statements as at 31 
March 2020.

16. National Key Point

OBP was declared as a National Key Point on 22 January 2007.

17. Environment, health and safety

Due to the nature of the company’s operations it is imperative that the company should conform to environmental, safety 
and health rules and laws. The company also strives to comply with ethical and international standards with regard to the 
company’s livestock. In order to manage and control these risks, a Safety Committee operated during the year. Activities 
in this regard are discussed in the Corporate Governance Report.

The company’s activities do not however, pose a significant threat to the environment. The company has introduced an 
employee health care program which includes preventative health care initiatives.

18. Materiality framework

In accordance with regulations 9.1.5 of the Treasury Regulations, irregular or fruitless and wasteful expenditure incurred 
during the year under review is disclosed in the notes of the financial statements. The value of material expenses for 2019 
represents any amount exceeding R11 million (2019: R12 million) per occurrence for the purpose of material, unauthorised, 
irregular or fruitless and wasteful expenditure as defined in the Treasury Regulations. The amount is based on the average 
of 1% of sales and 5% of net profit after tax of the current financial year. This principle is in line with Treasury Regulations.

19. Funding

The company generates funds from sales of vaccines to meet all operational requirements. The construction of the GMP 
facilty has commenced in December 2017.

Mr TR Ramabulana
Onderstepoort Biological Products SOC Ltd 
Board Chairperson
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     Figures in Rand   Note(s) 2020 2019

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

 
 

 

Statement of Financial Position as at 31 March 2020

  

Figures in Rand Note(s)

 

2020

 

2019

 

 

Assets

   

Non-Current Assets

Property, plant and equipment 3 333 737 435 251 535 666

Intangible assets

 

4

 

20 735

 

50 091

 

Deferred tax

 

5

 

5 109 996

 

2 086 095

 

  

338 868 166

 

253 671 852

 

Current Assets 

Inventories

 

 

6

 

 

80 389 342

 

 

89 930 613

 

Trade and other receivables

 

7

 

39 641 764

 

24 284 642

 

Tax prepayment

 

24

 

25 394 239

 

19 423 530

 

Cash and cash equivalents

 

8

 

286 239 030

 

394 553 266

 

  

431 664 375

 

528 192 051

 

Total Assets

  

770 532 541

 

781 863 903

 

Equity and Liabilities

 

Equity

 

Share capital

 

9

 

1 000

 

1 000

 

Retained income

  

270 844 029

 

276 648 976

 

  

270 845 029

 

276 649 976

 

 

Non-Current Liabilities 

Finance lease liabilities

 

10

 

270 581

 

-

 

Deferred Recapitalisation Grant

 

11

 

444 291 521

 

450 353 838

 

Deferred government grant –

 

small-animal facility

 

12

 

306 025

 

591 557

 

Deferred government grant –

 

corporatisation of OBP Ltd

 

13

 

9 224 909

 

11 476 784

 

Deferred Research and Development Grant

 

14

 

24 645 636

 

24 138 411

 

  

478 738 672 486 560 590

Current Liabilities 

Finance lease liabilities

 

 

10

 

 

157 876

 

 

-

 

Trade and other payables

 

15

 

10 379 424

 

7 580 503

 

Deferred Recapitalisation Grant

 

11

 

6 517 669

 

6 973 021

 

Deferred government grant –

 

small-animal facility

 

12

 

285 532

 

285 532

 

Deferred government grant –

 

corporatisation of OBP Ltd

 

13

 

2 251 875

 

2 251 875

 

Deferred Research and Development Grant

 
14

 
1 356 464

 
1 562 406

 

  

20 948 840
 
18 653 337

 

Total Liabilities
  

499 687 512
 

505 213 927
 

Total Equity and Liabilities
  

770 532 541
 

781 863 903
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     Figures in Rand   Note(s) 2020 2019

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

 

Statement of Comprehensive Income

   

 

Revenue

 

16

 

158 743 996

 

150 108 517

 

Cost of sales (47 109 372) (28 171 813)

 

Gross prot

  

111 634 624

 

121 936 704

 

Other income

 

17

 

24 705 240

 

15 885 318

 

Operating expenses (140 937 628) (101 577 334)

 

Administrative expenses

 

(33 711 407) (24 514 433)

 

Operating (loss) prot

 

18

 

(38 309 171)

 

11 730 255

 

Investment revenue

 

20

 

19 068 782

 

30 065 127

 

Appreciation of deferred government grants 10 411 540 11 072 833

 

(Loss) prot before taxation

  

(8 828 849)

 

52 868 215

 

Taxation

 

21

 

3 023 902

 

(11 588 031)

 

(Loss) prot for the year

 

(5 804 947) 41 280 184

 

Total comprehensive (loss) income for the year

  

(5 804 947)

 

41 280 184
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     Figures in Rand   Note(s) 2020 2019

     Figures in Rand   

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

 
 

 

Statement of Changes in Equity

  

Figures in Rand
Share capital

 

Retained 
income

 

Total equity

 

Balance at 01 April 2018

 

1 000

 

235 368 792

 

235 369 792

 

Prot for the year

  

41 280 184

 

41 280 184

 

Other comprehensive income - - -

 

Total comprehensive income for the year - 41 280 184 41 280 184

 

Balance at 01 April 2019

 

1 000

 

276 648 976

 

276 649 976

 

Loss for the year

 

-

 

(5 804 947)

 

(5 804 947)

 

Other comprehensive income

 

- - -

 

Total comprehensive Loss for the year

 

- (5 804 947) (5 804 947)

 

Balance at 31 March 2020

 

-

 

270 844 029

 

270 844 029

 

Share Capital Retained
Income

Total 
Equity

 
 

 

Statement of Cash Flows

  

   

 

Cash ows from operating activities

   

Cash receipts from customers

 

169 132 170

 

153 565 233

 

Cash paid to suppliers and employees

  

(196 701 949)

 

(177 448 116)

 

Cash used in operations

 

23

 

(27 554 890)

 

(23 882 883)

 

Interest income

  

19 068 782

 

30 065 127

 

Tax paid

 

24 (5 970 709) (29 127 856)

 

Net cash from operating activities

  

(14 456 817)

 

(22 945 612)

 

 

Cash ows from investing activities

 
   

Purchase of property, plant and equipment

 

3 (94 285 876)

 

(93 899 165)

 

 

Cash ows from nancing activities

 
   

Finance

 

lease payments

 

428 457

 

-

 

 

Total cash movement for the year

 

  

(108 314 236)

 
 

(116 844 777)

 

Cash at the beginning of the year

  

394 553 266

 

511 398 043

 

Total cash at end of the year

 

8

 

286 239 030

 

394 553 266
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1. Basis of preparation

The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis adjusted for certain non-current assets, unless stated 
otherwise. An accrual basis of accounting is used except for the cash flow statement. The financial statements are 
prepared on a going concern basis. The basis of preparation of the annual financial statements is consistent with that 
of the prior year, unless stated otherwise. The measurement currency for all transactions and amounts disclosed in this 
document is the South African Rand.

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), 
including any interpretations and directives issued by the International Accounting Standards Board and in the manner 
required by the South African Companies Act, as amended, the Treasury Regulations and the Public Finance Management 
Act, 1999 (PFMA).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS that requires management to exercise its judgement, make 
certain estimates and assumptions in the process of applying the company’s accounting policies to reported amounts 
of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical 
experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which 
form the basis of making judgements about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from 
other sources.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Changes to estimates are recognised in 
the period in which the estimate is revised and if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and 
future periods, if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Key accounting estimates and assumptions

Indirect production costs (IPCs)
Production costs for finished goods include IPCs such as employee costs, depreciation, and maintenance.

IPCs are measured based on a standard cost method which is reviewed regularly to ensure relevant measures of 
utilisation, production lead time and other relevant factors. Changes in the parameters for calculation of IPCs, including 
utilisation levels and production lead time, could have an impact on the gross margin and the overall valuation of 
inventories.

Allowances for doubtful trade receivables

Onderstepoort Biological Products (SOC) Ltd maintains allowances for doubtful trade receivables in anticipation of 
estimated losses resulting from the subsequent inability of customers to make required payments. If the financial 
circumstances of the customers were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to make payments, additional 
allowances could be required in future periods. Management analyses trade receivables and examines historical bad 
debt, customer concentrations, customer creditworthiness, current economic trends and changes in customer payment 
terms when evaluating the adequacy of the allowance for doubtful trade receivables.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities

Onderstepoort Biological Products (SOC) Ltd recognises deferred income tax assets if it is probable that sufficient taxable 
income will be available in the future against which the temporary differences and unused tax losses can be utilised.

Management has considered future taxable income in assessing whether deferred income tax assets should be 
recognised.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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Other provisions

Other provisions consist of various types of provisions, including provisions for legal disputes. Management makes 
judgements about provisions and contingencies, including the probability of pending and potential future litigation 
outcomes that by their very nature are dependent on inherently uncertain future events. When determining likely 
outcomes of litigations, etc. management considers the evaluation of external lawyers knowledgeable about each case, 
as well as known outcomes in case law.

Provisions for pending litigations are recognised as part of other provisions. Although management believes that the total 
provisions for legal proceedings are adequate based upon currently available information, there can be no assurance 
that there will not be an increase in the scope of these matters or that any future lawsuits, claims, proceedings or 
investigations will not   be material.

The following are the principal accounting policies used by the company, which are consistent in all material respects with 
those adopted in the previous year, unless otherwise indicated:

The entity re-assess the useful lives and residual values of Property Plant and Equipment on an annual basis. In re-
assessing the useful lives and residual values of property plant and equipment, management considers the condition 
and use of the individual assets to determine the remaining period over which the asset can and will be used.

1.1 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are measured at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment loss.   
Any decrease in an asset’s carrying amount, as a result of a revaluation, is recognised in profit or loss in the current period.
The decrease is debited in other comprehensive income to the extent of any credit balance existing in the revaluation 
surplus in respect of that asset.

Assets are stated in three different ways since the 2006 financial year:
• Plant and equipment transferred to OBP at inception of the company, which were fully depreciated, are stated at a 

carrying value of R1. Where actual cost could be obtained, it was used. These assets were not disclosed prior to 2007, 
but are still in use.

• The land and buildings which the company occupies were transferred from the Public Works Department to the 
company at no cost during 2006. These assets were valued by an independent registered professional valuer (CB 
Richard Ellis (Pty) Ltd) on 1 August 2005. The company has not adopted a revaluation model on these assets, but a 
costing model.

• All capital work in progress are included at cost and any impairment loss.

Cost includes all costs directly attributable to bringing the assets to working condition for their intended use. Subsequent 
cost is included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable 
that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the company and the cost of the item can be measured 
reliably.
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The useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment have been assessed as follows:

ASSET GROUPS DEPRECIATION (USEFUL LIFE)

Land Not depreciated

Buildings

Own improvements 5 to 20 years

Section 13 20 years

Demountable partitions 6 years

Motor vehicles

Company vehicles 3 to 7 years

Delivery vehicles 3 to 7 years

Office equipment 3 to 6 years

IT equipment

Computers and electronic equipment 2 to 3 years

Network servers 2 to 5 years

Software 2 to 5 years

Security control systems 10 to 20 years Leased assets

    Leased assets

Printers 3 to 5 years

Property, plant and equipment

Equipment acquired after 1 March 2002 2 to 20 years

Equipment used in the plant 2 to 20 years

Digital equipment 3 years

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each reporting 
period. An asset’s carrying amount is written down to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is higher than 
its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised 
in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.



| 79   ANNUAL REPORT 2019 2020

ONDERSTEPOORT BIOLOGICAL PRODUCTS SOC LTD
[Registration Number 2000/022686/06]
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2020

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

1.2 Intangible assets 

Patents and licences

Patents and licences, including acquired patents and licences for in-process research and development projects, are 
carried at historical cost less accumulated amortisation and any impairment loss. Amortisation is calculated using the 
straight-line method to allocate the cost of patents and licences over their estimated useful lives. Estimated useful life 
is the shorter of the legal duration and the economic useful life. The estimated useful life of intangible assets is regularly 
reviewed. The amortisation of patents and licenses begins after regulatory approval has been obtained, which is the 
point in time from which the intangible asset is available for use in the production of the product.

Other intangible assets

Internal development of computer software and other development costs related to major IT projects for internal use 
that are directly attributable to the design and testing of identifiable and unique software products controlled by the 
company are recognised as intangible assets under other intangible assets if the recognition criteria are met. The computer 
software has to be a significant business system and the expenditure will lead to the creation of a durable asset.

When assessing whether an internally generated intangible asset qualifies for recognition, it is required that the related 
internal development project is at a sufficiently advanced stage and that the project is economically viable. Amortisation 
is calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of 3 to10 years. The amortisation commences 
when the asset is available for use, i.e. when it is in the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating 
in the manner intended by management.

Item Useful life
Patent 3 years
Trademark 10 years
Computer software, other 3 years

1.3 Financial instruments

The company’s financial instruments carried on the statement of financial position consist mainly of cash and cash 
equivalents, trade receivables and trade payables. These financial instruments are generally carried at their estimated 
fair value, which is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable and 
willing parties in an
arm’s-length transaction.

Embedded foreign currency derivatives:

The company classifies financial assets and financial liabilities into the following categories:
Classification depends on the purpose for which the financial instruments were obtained / incurred and takes place at 
initial recognition. Classification is re-assessed on an annual basis, except for derivatives and financial assets designated 
as at fair value through profit or loss, which shall not be classified out of the fair value through profit or loss category.

Classification

The company classifies financial assets and financial liabilities into the following categories:
• Available-for-sale financial assets;
• Loans and receivables;
• Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss;
• Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (derivatives);
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• Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

Classification depends on the purpose for which the financial instruments were obtained / incurred and takes place at 
initial recognition. Classification is re-assessed on an annual basis, except for derivatives and financial assets designated 
as at fair value through profit or loss, which shall not be classified out of the fair value through profit or loss category.

Recognition and measurement

Financial instruments are initially recognised using the trade date accounting method. Financial instruments are initially 
measured at cost or fair value net of transaction costs when the entity is a party to contractual arrangement. Subsequent 
to initial recognition, these instruments are measured as set out below.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise of cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, and investment deposits managed 
by different fund managers

Available for sale financial assets and financial assets at fair value are subsequently carried at fair value.

Held-to-maturity investments are included as current assets since it is possible for management to dispose of the 
investment within 12 months. Held-to-maturity investments are carried at amortised cost using effective interest method.

All the company’s financial instruments designated or classified as at fair value through profit or loss were designated as 
such as it is believed that this designation significantly reduces an accounting mismatch which would arise.

Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of financial assets are classified as financial assets at fair value 
and available-for-sale financial assets are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Trade and other receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in 
an active market. If collection is expected within one year (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer), they 
are classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method, less provision for allowances. Provision for allowances of trade receivables is made when there is 
objective evidence that the company will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of the 
receivables.

The provision for allowances is measured using the simplified approach by applying a matrix of historical impairment 
percentages to determine the losses at an amount equal to the lifetime expected credit losses as required by IFRS 9. 
The amount of the loss is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. Subsequent recoveries of amounts 
previously written off are credited in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Financial assets at fair value (derivatives)

The company uses forward exchange contracts to hedge forecast transactions, assets and liabilities in accordance with 
the specific rules of IFRS 9 (Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement).
• Hedges of the fair value of a recognised asset or liability or a firm commitment (fair value hedge), or
• Hedges of the fair value of a forecast financial transaction (cash flow hedge).
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All contracts are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently remeasured at their fair values based on current bid 
prices at the end of the reporting period.

The fair value of financial assets and liabilities is measured on the basis of quoted market prices of financial instruments 
traded in active markets. If an active market exists, fair value is based on the most recently observed market price at the 
end of the reporting period.

If a financial instrument is quoted in a market that is not active, the company bases its valuation on the most recent 
transaction price. Adjustment is made for subsequent changes in market conditions, for instance by including transactions 
in similar financial instruments that are assumed to be motivated by normal business considerations.

OBP’s principal financial liabilities are trade payables, and are measured at amortised cost and fair value through profit 
and loss.

Trade and other payables are stated at amortised cost, which, due to their short-term nature, closely approximate their 
fair value.

Derecognition of financial instruments

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments have expired or have been 
transferred and the company has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation is discharged, cancelled or expires.

Impairment of financial assets

In determining the impairment of financial assets, management estimates the future cash flows as well as the appropriate 
discount rate. These estimates are based on the best available information at the reporting date.

Maturity profile of financial instruments:

Financial assets and liabilities mature within a period of 0 to 12 months for each financial year.

1.4 Tax

Current tax assets and liabilities

Current tax for current and prior periods is, to the extent unpaid, recognised as a liability. If the amount already paid in 
respect of current and prior periods exceeds the amount due for those periods, the excess is recognised as an asset.

Current tax liabilities (assets) for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be paid to 
(recovered from) the tax authorities, using the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted 
by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities

A deferred tax liability is recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except to the extent that the deferred tax 
liability arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which at the time of the transaction, affects 
neither accounting profit nor taxable profit (tax loss).
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A deferred tax asset is recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable 
profit will be available against which the deductible temporary difference can be utilised. A deferred tax asset is not 
recognised when it arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction at the time of the transaction, 
affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit (tax loss).

A deferred tax asset is recognised for the carry forward of unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that future 
taxable profit will be available against which the unused tax losses can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset 
is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted 
by the end of the reporting period.

The tax on profit or loss for the period comprises current and deferred tax including adjustments to previous years. Tax 
is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly 
in the statement of changes in equity.

Deferred income taxes arise from temporary differences between the accounting and taxable values of the company 
and from realisable tax-loss carry-forwards using the liability method. The tax value of tax-loss carry-forwards is 
included in deferred tax assets to the extent that the tax losses and other tax assets are expected to be utilised in future 
taxable income. The deferred income taxes are measured according to current tax rules and at the tax rates expected 
to be in force on the elimination of the temporary differences.

1.5 Leases

A single lessee accounting model is applied to account for leases. Recognition of the right of use of an asset and a lease 
liability for all leases at the commencement of the lease or elect not to apply this requirement for short-term leases and 
leases for which the underlying asset is of low value.

Finance leases – lessee

Finance leases are recognised as assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position at amounts equal to the fair 
value of the leased property or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability to 
the lessor is included in the statement of financial position as a finance lease obligation.

The discount rate used in calculating the present value of the minimum lease payments is the company’s incremental 
borrowing rate.

The lease payments are apportioned between the finance charge and reduction of the outstanding liability.The finance 
charge is allocated to each period during the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate on the remaining 
balance of the liability.

1.6 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realisable value. Cost is determined using the weighted average cost 
method. Cost comprises direct production costs such as raw materials, consumables and labour as well as production 
overheads such as depreciation and maintenance. The production overheads are measured based on a standard cost 
method, which is reviewed regularly to ensure relevant measures of utilisation, production lead time, etc.

If the expected sales price less completion costs and costs to execute sales (net realisable value) is lower than the 
carrying amount, a write-down is recognised for the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds its net realisable 
value.
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1.7 Impairment of assets

If there is any indication that an asset may be impaired, the recoverable amount is estimated for the individual asset. If it is 
not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of the individual asset, the recoverable amount of the cash-generating 
unit to which the asset belongs is determined.

The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value 
in use.

If the recoverable amount of an asset is less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its 
recoverable amount. That reduction is an impairment loss.

An impairment loss of assets carried at cost less any accumulated depreciation or amortisation is recognised immediately 
in profit or loss. Any impairment loss of a revalued asset is treated as a revaluation decrease.

Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life and intangible assets not yet available for use are not subject to amortisation 
and are tested annually for impairment irrespective of whether there is any indication that they may be impaired.

Assets that are subject to amortisation, such as intangible assets in use (with definite useful life) and other non-current 
assets, are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount 
may not be recoverable. Factors considered material by the company that could trigger an impairment test include the 
following:
• Development of a competing vaccine;
• Changes in the legal framework covering patents, rights or licences;
• Advances in vaccine and/or technology that affect the vaccine treatments on animals;
• Lower-than-predicted sales;
• Adverse impact on reputation and/or brand names;
• Changes in the economic lives of similar assets;
• Relationship with other intangible or tangible assets;
• Changes or anticipated changes in participation rates or reimbursement policies.

If the carrying amount of intangible assets or other non-current assets exceeds the recoverable amount based upon 
the existence of one or more of the above indicators of impairment, any impairment is measured based on discounted 
projected cash flows.

Intangible assets and other non-financial assets that have suffered impairments are reviewed at each reporting date for 
possible reversal of the impairment.

1.8 Share capital and equity

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its 
liabilities.

1.9 Employee benefits

Wages, salaries, social security contributions, annual leave and sick leave, bonuses and non-monetary benefits are 
recognised in the year in which the associated services are rendered by employees of the company. Where the company 
provides long- term employee benefits, the costs are accrued to match the rendering of the services by the employees 
concerned.
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Pensions

The company operates a defined contribution plans and the contributions to the defined contribution plans are charged to 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income in the year to which they relate. The plans are administered by the Government 
Employee Pension Fund and Alexandra Forbes Fund, and the company has no further payment obligations once the 
contributors have been paid.

1.10 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, 
when it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, 
and when a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made.

1.11 Revenue

Sale of goods and services

Revenue is income arising in the course of OBP ordinary activities. Revenue is recognised to depict the transfer of promised 
goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expect to be entitled to 
in exchange for goods and services.

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when the following criteria is met;
• Contract with customer identified;
• Identify the performance obligation in the contract;
• Determine the transaction price;
• Allocate the transaction price to the performance;
• Recognise revenue when the entity satisfies a performance obligation.

The performance obligation for OBP is when the promised goods or services is transfered to the customer. Discounts 
granted to government agencies, wholesalers, retail pharmacies and other customers are recorded as a reduction of 
revenue at the time the relevant revenues are recorded.

Interest income

Interest is recognised as revenue using the effective interest method.

Other operating income

Other operating income comprise discount received on early settlement, rental income arising from the rental of property 
and any other recurring or non-recurring income. These incomes are recognised on accrual or cash basis in accordance 
with the terms and substance of the relevant agreement.
 
1.12 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are 
capitalised  as part of the cost of that asset until such time as the asset is ready for its intended use. The amount of 
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation is determined as follows:
• Actual borrowing costs on funds specifically borrowed for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset less any 

temporary investment of those borrowings.
• Weighted average of the borrowing costs applicable to the entity on funds generally borrowed for the purpose of 

obtaining a qualifying asset. The borrowing costs capitalised do not exceed the total borrowing costs incurred.
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The capitalisation of borrowing costs commences when:
• expenditures for the asset have occurred;
• borrowing costs have been incurred, and
• activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress.

Capitalisation is suspended during extended periods in which active development is interrupted.

Capitalisation ceases when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its intended use 
or sale are complete.

All other borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

1.13 Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions are accounted for at the exchange rates prevailing at the relevant transaction OBP Financial 
Position date. Gains and losses resulting from import and export transactions and from the transfer of monetary assets 
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. Balances 
from such transactions are valued at year-end exchange rates. The financial statements comply with the accounting 
standards set out in IAS 21.

1.14 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise of cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, and investment deposits managed 
by different fund managers. Cash and cash equivalents are disclosed at fair value. Movement in the fair value of deposits 
is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

1.15 Comparatives

Comparative amounts have been included in the annual financial statements and have been adjusted where appropriate 
to promote better disclosure.

1.16 Research and development

All internal research costs are expensed in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as incurred.

Due to the long duration and significant uncertainties relating to the development of new products, including risks 
associated with clinical trials and regulatory approval, it is concluded that the company’s internal development costs 
in general do not meet the capitalisation criteria. This is because the technical feasibility criteria are not considered to 
be fulfilled until a high probability of regulatory approval can be determined. Hence, internal research and development 
costs are expensed in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as incurred.

The same principles are used for property, plant and equipment with no alternative use developed as part of a research 
and development project. However, property, plant and equipment with alternative use or used for general research 
and development purposes are capitalised and depreciated over their estimated useful lives.

For acquired in-process research and development projects, the effect of probability is reflected in the cost of the asset, 
and the probability recognition criteria are therefore always considered satisfied. As the cost of acquired in-process 
research and development projects can often be measured reliably, these projects fulfil the capitalisation criteria as 
intangible assets upon acquisition. However, further internal development costs subsequent to acquisition are treated in 
the same way as other internal development costs.
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1.17 Foreign currency transactions

All foreign currency transactions are recorded in local currency using the rate of exchange on the date on which the 
transactions occurred (as quoted by OBP approved banking institutions). The company maintains separate bank 
accounts for US Dollar and Euro based transactions. Where cash is available from these foreign currency accounts, funds 
may be used to pay foreign suppliers.

Foreign currency exposure is hedged by means of forward exchange contracts on all transactions exceeding R200 000 
or through natural hedging.

1.18 Government grant – corporatisation of OBP

The grant arose from the transfer of assets and the passing of the liabilities from the Department of Agriculture to the 
company at inception. The land and buildings which the company occupies were transferred from the Department of 
Public Works to the company during the 2006 financial year.

The government grant is presented in the balance sheet by setting up the grant as deferred income. The deferred income 
is recognised as income on a systematic and rational basis over the useful life of the asset.

1.19 Government grant – small-animal building

The government grant received in 2001 was utilised to build the small-animal facility. The grant is amortised over the same 
period as the useful life of the asset (small-animal facility). The government grant is presented in the balance sheet by 
setting up the grant as deferred income. The deferred income is recognised as income on a systematic and rational basis 
over the useful life of the asset.

With the completion of the erection of the small-animal facility, the condition for the grant is viewed as being met. The 
company has not benefited directly in monetary terms from any other form of government assistance.

1.20 Contingent liabilities

Contingent liabilities are possible obligations that arise from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by 
the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within control of the entity.

Contingent liabilities are not recognised, but disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

1.21 Irregular or fruitless and wasteful expenditure

Irregular expenditure relates to expenditure incurred in contravention of, or not in accordance with Section 55(2)(b)(i) of 
the PFMA Act. Fruitless and wasteful expenditure relates to expenditure that was made in vain and would have been 
avoided had reasonable care been exercised. All irregular, fruitless and wasteful expenditure is charged against income 
in the period it was incurred.

1.22 Government grant - Research and Development

The Tshwane Animal health Innovation Cluster(TAHIC) grant relates to amounts received by OBP from the TAHIC to fund 
OBP’s research projects. This deferred income will be recognised as income on a systematic and rational basis over the 
duration of the research.

1.23 Government grant - Recapitalisation

The grant relates to the funding received from the National Treasury for OBP’s Recapitalisation programme. The grant is 
recognised in the income statement once the related asset is commissioned in line with the amortisation of the asset.
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2. New Standards and Interpretations Standards approved and not yet effective:
•  IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts
•  Definition of a Business (Amendments to IFRS 3)
•  Definition of Material (Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8)
•  Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting
•  IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

Standards approved and effective in the current year:

 •   IFRS 3, Business Combinations: Clarification that when an entity obtains control of a business that is a joint   
operation, it is required to remeasure previously held interests. Effective on financial year ending on or after 1 
January 2019. Not affected.

 •   IFRS 11, Joint Arrangements: Clarification that when an entity obtains control of a business that is a joint operation, 
the entity does not remeasure previously held interests. Effective on financial year ending on or after 1 January 
2019. Not affected.

 •   IFRS 16, Leases: Introduction of a single lease accounting model. Effective on financial year ending on or after 1 
January 2019. Affected

 •   IAS 12 Income Taxes: Clarification that all income tax consequences of dividends should be recognised in profit 
or loss, regardless how the tax arises. Effective 1 January 2019. Not affected

 •   IAS 19 Employee Benefits: The amendments require an entity to use the updated assumptions from a 
remeasurement net defined benefit liability or asset resulting from a plan amendment, curtailment or settlement 
to determine current service cost and net interest for the remainder of the reporting period after the change to the 
plan. Effective 1 January 2019. Not affected.

 •   IAS 23 Borrowing Costs: borrowing remains outstanding after the related asset is ready for its intended use or 
sale, that borrowing becomes part of the funds that an entity borrows generally when calculating the capitalisation 
rate on general borrowings.Effective form 1 January 2019. Not affected

 •   IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments:The interpretation specifies how an entity    
should reflect the effects of uncertainties in accounting for income taxes.Effective form 1 January 2019. Affected
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Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

 

 

3. Property, plant and equipment

 

    

Cost / Accumulated 

 

Valuation Depreciaon

Land

 

5 105 340 - 5 105 340

 

5 105 340

 

- 5 105 340

 

Buildings 82 321 461 (53 680 428) 28 641 033

 

82 230 557

 

(48 302 926) 33 927 631

 

Furniture and fixtures 1 807 472 (1 801 696) 5 776 1 793 982 (1 750 327) 43 655

 

Motor vehicles

 

241 200

 

(192 970)

 

48 230

 

241 200

 

(192 970)

 

48 230

 

Office equipment

 

218 687

 

(183 880)

 

34 807

 

187 487

 

(183 364)

 

4 123

 

IT equipment

 

15 150 587

 

(9 181 218)

 

5 969 369

 

13 647 322

 

(8 117 293)

 

5 530 029

 

Leased assets

 

450 345

 

(25 019)

 

425 326

 

-

 

-

 

-
 

Manufacturing equipment

 

141 078 199

 

(83 283 739)

 

57 794 460

 

141 082 159

 

(78 985 409)

 

62 096 750
 

Capital work in progress

 

235 713 094

 

-

 

235 713 094

 

144 779 908

 

-

 

144 779 908  

Total

 

482 086 385

 

(148 348 950)

 

333 737 435

 

389 067 955

 

(137 532 289)

 

251 535 666  

Carrying 
Value

Cost / Accumulated 
Valuation Depreciaon   

Carrying 
Value

Opening

 

balance

 

Additions

 

Depreciaon

 

Total

 

Land 5 105 340

 

-

 

-

 

5 105 340

Buildings

 

39 051 927

 

39 166

 

(5 163 462)

 

33 927 631

Furniture and fixtures

 

129 087

 

2 608

 

(88 040)

 

43 655

Motor vehicles

 

48 230

 

-

 

-

 

48 230

Office equipment

 

4 123

 

-

 

-

 

4 123

IT equipment

 

6 389 648

 

206 081

 

(1 065 700)

 

5 530 029

Property, plant and equipment

 
67 242 758

 
746 145

 
(5 892 153)

 
62 096 750

Capital work
 

in progress
 

51 874 743
 

92 905 165
 

-
 

144 779 908

169 845 856
 

93 899 165
 

(12 209 355)
 

251 535 666

Reconciliaon of property, plant and equipment - 2020

 a - Opening

 
balance

 

Additions Disposals Depreciaon Total

Land

 

5 105 340

 

-

 

-

 

-

 

5 105 340

Buildings

 

33 927 631

 

90 903

 

-

 

(5 377 501)

 

28 641 033

Furniture and fixtures

 

43 655

 

-

 

-

 

(37 879)

 

5 776

Motor vehicles

 

48 230

 

-

 

-

 

-

 

48 230

Office equipment

 

4 123

 

31 200

 

-

 

(516)

 

34 807

IT equipment

 

5 530 029

 

1 517 553

 

-

 

(1 078 213)

 

5 969 369

Leased assets

 

-

 

450 345

 

-

 

(25 019)

 

425 326

Manufacturing equipment

 

62 096 750

 

1 533 601

 

(285 801)

 

(5 550 090)

 

57 794 460

Capital work in progress

 

144 779 908

 

90 933 186

 

-

 

-

 

235 713 094

251 535 666

 

94 556 788

 

(285 801)

 

(12 069 218)

 

333 737 435

The major capital expenditure incurred during the current financial year was the recapitalisaon of the facility to conform with

 

Good Manufacturing Pracces (GMP) in line with the funding received from the Naonal Treasury. 

Reconciliaon of property, plant and equipment - 2019
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Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

 

 

3. Property, plant and equipment (connued) 

 

A register containing the informaon required by Regulaon 25(3) of the Companies Regulaons, 2013 is available for inspecon at the 
registered office of the company.

 

Depreciaon is provided under the straight-line method over the esmated useful lives of the assets. (see note 1.1 )

 

In line with the requirements of IAS 16, the company reviewed the useful life, residual values and impairment for all assets in use. 
Management concluded that there are no indicaons of changes to above on all asset groups.

 

4. Intangible assets 

    

Patent 566 657 (566 657) - 566 657 (566 657) -
Trademark 260 022

 

(239 287)

 

20 735

 

260 022

 

(209 931) 50 091

Total 826 679 (805 944) 20 735 826 679 (776 588) 50 091

Reconciliaon of intangible assets - 2020 Opening 
balance

 

Amorsaon Total 

Trademark

 

50 091 (29 356) 20 735 

Reconciliaon of intangible assets - 2019 Opening 
balance

 

Amorsaon Total 

Trademark

 

80 459 (30 368) 50 091 

5. Deferred tax

 

 

Deferred tax asset

Deferred tax
 

5 109 996
 

2 086 095
 

Reconciliaon of deferred tax asset (liability)

 

Accelerated depreciaon for tax purposes

 

(9 963 401) (6 017 703)
Accrual for leave

 

1 066 920

 

658 650

 

Assessed loss

 

5 165 903

 

-

 

Income received in advance

 

7 357

 

308

 

7 196 229

 

Prepaid expenses

 

(151 086)

 

(109 333)

 

Provisions

 
1 634 352

 
358 252

 

5 109 996 2 086 095

The accelerate depreciaon for tax purposes of R9 963 401 is due to the recapitalisaon cost.
 

Cost / 
Valuation   

     

     

     
Carrying 

Value
Cost / Accumulated 

Amorsaon 
Carrying 

Value

   

 
Accumulated 
Amorsaon Valuation

     Figures in Rand                                                                                                        2020      2019
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Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

 

6. Inventories

Raw materials, components 12 916 035 4 695 638

Work in progress

 

2 193 018

 

11 284 779

 

Intermediate Finished goods

 

48 089 534

 

49 908 903

 

Finished goods

 

16 710 631

 

17 811 659

 

Spares

 

210 764

 

124 881

 

Packaging materials

 

4 406 373

 

6 147 534

 

 

84 526 355

 

89 973 394

 

Less: Provision for obsolete inventory

 

(4 137 013)

 

(42 781)

 

 

80 389 342

 

89 930 613

 

 

 
 Products likely to be obsolete are those products with a short remaining shelf life or which have 

limited commercial marketability and are therefore unlikely to be sold. During the Dec 2017 OBP 
started with the construc�on of the GMP facility. In order to avoid stock shortages produc�on 

 

of intermediate stock was increased to sustain revenue.
 

 

The movements in the provision for obsolete inventory can be specified as follows:  

 
Balance at the beginning of the year  

 

 
42 781  

 

  
  1 438 324  

Amounts recognised in profit or loss  4 094 232  (1 395 543)  

 

 

4 137 013
 

42 781
 

 
7.

 

Trade and other receivables
  

Trade receivables

 

30 464 726

 

21 228 960

 
Provision for doub�ul debts

 

(2 266 612)

 

(1 648 921)

 
Prepayments (if immaterial)

 

282 079

 

296 358

 

VAT

 

9 245 684

 

2 662 158

 

Accrued interest

 

640 197

 

1 602 740

 

Other receivables

 

1 275 690 143 347

 

 

39 641 764

 

24 284 642

 

 

Accrued interest relates to the Standard Bank and FNB investment, interest is paid at maturity date.

Trade and other receivables past due but not impaired

 
  

The ageing of amounts past due but not impaired is as follows:

 
  

Neither past due nor impaired

 

Current

 

 

18 727 012

 

 

7 436 321

 

30 –

 

60 days

 

9 224 006

 

6 208 326

 

Past due but not impaired

 

61 – 90 days

 

 

494 192

 

 

16 747 

90 days and older

 

2 019 516

 

7 567 566

 

30 464 726 21 228 960

 

Reconciliaon of provision for impairment of trade and other receivables

 

Opening balance

 

1 648 921

 

- 

Provision for impairment

 

617 691

 

4 314 789

 

Amounts wrien off as uncollectable - (2 665 868)

2 266 612 1 648 921
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8. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of:

Cash on hand

 

21 421

 

11 421

 

Short term cash investments and deposits

 

204 673 945

 

350 509 804

 

Current account bank balance

 

81 543 664

 

44 032 041

 

 

286 239 030

 

394 553 266

 

 

9. Share capital

  

Authorised

1 000 ordinary shares of R1 each

 

1 000 1 000

 

Issued

 

1 000 ordinary shares of R1 each

 

 

1 000

 

 

1 000

 

10.    Finance lease liabilies

  

Minimum lease payments due

 

- within one year

 

 

172 480

 

 

- 

-

 

in second to fi�h year inclusive

 

301

 

839

 

-

 

 

474 319

 

- 

less: future finance charges

 

(45 862)

 

-

 

Present value of minimum lease payments

 

428 457

 

- 

Present value of minimum lease payments due

- within one year 157 876 - 

-

 

in second to fi�h year inclusive

 

270 581

 

-

 

 

428 457

 

- 

 

Non-current liabilies

 

270 581

 

- 

Current liabilies

 

157 876

 

-

 

 

428 457

 

-

 

 

The company has leased computer equipment for a duraon of three years. Due the single lessee 
model this arrangement qualifies to be a finance lease.

 

 

The average lease term

 

was 3

 

years and the average effecve borrowing rate was 9%.

 

 

Interest rates are fixed at the contract date. All leases have fixed repayments and no arrangements

 
 

have been entered into for conngent rent.
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11.   Deferred Recapitalisaon Grant 

 

Non-current 444 291 521 450 353 838

Current liabilies 6 517 669

 

6 973 021

 

 

450 809 190

 

457 326 859

 

 

Opening carrying amount

 

 

457 326 858

 

 

464 299 879

 

Amorsed

 

(6 517 668)

 

(6 973 020)

 

Closing net carrying amount 450 809 190 457 326 859 

 

The grant relates to the funding received from the Treasury for OBP's Recapitalisaon programme. 

 

The grant was approved in 2012/13 financial year for R492.4 million of which the whole R492.4 million 
has been received since the 2013/14 financial year. During the financial year under review R6.5 million
was realised into the income statement as a Deferred Government Grant.

 

12.   Deferred government grant - small - animal facility 

   

Opening carrying amount

 

877 089

 

1 162 622

 

Amorsed

 

(285 532)

 

(285 533)

 

Closing net carrying amount

 

591 557

 

877 089

 

 

Maturity analysis

 

Non-current

 

 

306 025

 

 

591 557

 

Current

 

285 532

 

285 532

 

 

591 557

 

877 089

 

The government grant is amorsed in relaon to the depreciaon of assets for which the 
was ulised. The small-animal facility was taken into use on 1 April 2004 and the grant has 

 

been amorsed since that date.

 
 

13. Deferred government grant - corporasaon of OBP 

   

Opening carrying amount

 

13 728 659

 

15 980 533

 

Amorsed

 

(2 251 875)

 

(2 251 874)

 

Closing net carrying amount

 

11 476 784

 

13 728 659

 

 

Maturity analysis

Non-current

 

 

9 224 909

 

 

11 476 784

 

Current

 

2 251 875

 

2 251 875

 

 

11 476 784 13 728 659

 

 

The deferred income is recognised as income on a systemac and raonal basis over the
useful life of the remaining assets.

 



| 95   ANNUAL REPORT 2019 2020

ONDERSTEPOORT BIOLOGICAL PRODUCTS SOC LTD
[Registration Number 2000/022686/06]
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2020

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

 
 

 

 

14. Deferred Research and Development Grant

The grant relates to the funding received from the Tshwane Animal Health innovaon 
Cluster (TAHIC), NRF and other sponsors for OBP's research projects. The total amount

 

expensed in the income statement for the grants is R1.5 million during the current 

 

financial

 

year

 
 

Opening carrying amount

 

25 700 817

 

24 096 811

Addions

 

1 657 747

 

3 166 412

Amorsed

 

(1 356 464) (1 562 406)

 

 
26 002 100 25 700 817 

Maturity analysis

 

Non-current

 

24 645 636 24 138 411

Current

 

1 356 464 1 562 406 

 26 002 100 25 700 817

 

15. Trade and other payables
 

 

Trade payables
 

2 594 138          584 747

Accruals
 

7 047 371 5 161 327

Other payables 737 915 1 834 429

 10 379 424 7 580 503

 
16. Gross to net revenue reconciliaon

 

Sale of goods
 

158 743 996 150 108 517

 The amount included in revenue arising from exchanges of goods or services included in revenue 
are as follows:

 Sale of goods

 

 

 156 269 037 147 498 178

Delivery services

 

2 474 959 2 610 339

 

 

158 743 996 150 108 517

Gross revenue

 

177 733 459 163 026 312

Discount Granted

 

(21 464 422) (15 528 134)

Net revenue – vaccines 156 269 037 147 498 178

Revenue -

 

dry ice

 

576 083 548 496

Revenue –

 

transportaon service

 

1 898 876 2 061 844

Other

 

- (1)

 

 

158 743 996 150 108 517

 

Net revenue increased from R147 million in 2019 to R156 million in 2020 financial year.

 
 

The increase is aributable to an

 

increase in demand from foreign countries.

 
 

     Figures in Rand   2020 2019
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18. Included in operang and administrave expensess 

The following items have been charged/(credited) in arriving at operang and administrave cost:

 

Depreciaon and amorsation

 

Buildings

 

 

5 377 501

 

 

5 163 462

 

Furniture and fixtures

 

52 770

 

88 040

 

Office equipment

 

516

 

-

 

Computer equipment

 

1 078 213

 

1 120 053

 

Computer so�ware

 

25 019

 

-

 

Factory plant and equipment

 

5 550 090

 

5 892 153

 

Intangible assets

 
29 355

 
30 368

 

 
12 113 464

 
12 294 076

 

 

Auditor's remuneraon

Total fees paid for the statutory audit

 

3 108 079

 

2 529 864  

 
Other disclosures 

  

Employee benefits – defined contributions plans 2 429 821 3 053 129
 Research and development expenditure

 
4 051 720

 
3 254 285

 Repair and maintenance expenditure

 
8 601 949

 
6 757 831

 Amounts paid to employees

 

88 408 804

 

82 400 666

 Average number

 

of employees

 

217

 

202

 Employee benefits

 
  

The amount paid to employees increased from R82.4 million to R86.9 million in the 2020 financial year. 

 

This is mainly due to the settlements paid to employees. The company declared an average annual incresed 

 
 

of 7% for the current financial year.

 
The company operates defined contribution plans and the contribuons to the defined contribuon plans

 

are charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income in the year to which they relate. The plans are  

 

administered by the Government Employee Pension Fund and Alexandra Forbes Fund, and the company 

 

has no further payment obligaons once the contributors have been paid. 

 
 

Included in the amount paid to employees there is an amount paid to Directors.

 

See note 18.

 

 

Inventory write-off

 

Inventory write-off : Stock being invesgated

 

7 424 917

 

-

 

Inventory write-off : Stock count adjustments

 

1 278 301

 

-

 

Inventory write-off : Obsolete stock

 

4 094 232

 

-

 

Total 12 797 450 -

17.    Other income

Rental income 830 586 703 286

Learnerships

 

283 862

 

469 841

 

Forex gains

 

23 590 792

 

14 712 191

 

 

24 705 240

 

15 885 318

 

     Figures in Rand   2020 2019
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19. Disclosure of emoluments of execuve and Non-executive Directors as per Treasury Regulaon 28.1.1: Execuve
 

2020 

 

Basic salary   

    

Sums 
paid by

          

Contribuons 

    

Contributions

   

Other material

 

Total     
way of

      
to pension

     
to officers’

         
benefits

  
  

expense
          

fund
      

liability
        

received
 

allowances

      

insurance

  

(travel and
         

cover
  

cell phone)
     

Dr BK Dungu -
 

Chief Execuve Officer
 

2 689 037
 

16 957

 
250 963

 
4 308

 
72 000

 
3 033 265

 

*Mr. Gololo,M -
 

Chief Financial Officer
 

1 024 513
 

-
 

87 355
 

4 308
 

798 939
 

1 915 115
 

*Ms. Mobeng,DN -
 

Company Secretary
 

791 898
 

-
 

46 737
 

4 308
 

1 396 153
 

2 239 096
 

Dr. Modumo,J - Business Development Officer 1 220 891 8 446

 

165 405  4 308  72 000  1 471 050  

*Mrs. Ramutle,NV - HR Execuve 1 135 338 - 59 363  4 308  406 114  1 605 123  

Dr. Nthangeni MB** 1 148 903 7 249 128 130  4 308  -  1 288 590  

Mr. SV Ntombela 1 145 295  79 663  4 308   1 229 266   

9 155 875 32 652 817 616 30 156 2 745 206 12 781 505 

* Resigned during the year 

2019 

 

  

       

 

 

Mr. Gololo, M Chief Financial Officer *
 

1 302 017
 

131 755
 

-
 

111 052
 

6 731
 

-
 

1 551 555
 

Ms. Ramutle, NV - Human Resources Execuve **  1 213 794  120 077  14 335  74 026  6 731  - 1 428 963  

Ms. Mobeng,DN - Company Secretary ***  1 262 463  126 632  27 700  95 662  6 731  - 1 519 188  

Dr. Modumo,J - Business Development Officer  1 190 750  125 738  27 546  157 787  6 731  - 1 508 552  

Dr. BK Dungu - Chief Execuve Officer 226 625  -  -  18 375  1 122  - 246 122

Dr. Nthangeni MB 1 119 155  115 828  27 986  123 095  6 731  150 207 1 543 002  
Mr. Ntombela SV 1 111 737  111 104  1 646  79 856  6 731  - 1 311 074  

 
7 426 541 731 134 99 213 659 853 41 508 150 207 9 108 456

Basic salary Bonuses and
Performance 

related
payments

Sums paid by
way of 

expenses
allowances 

(travel
and 

cell phone)

Contribuon
to Pension

Fund

Contribuons
to officers’

liability 
insurance

cover

Other
material
benefits
received

Total
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19. Disclosure of emoluments of execuve and Non-executive Directors as per Treasury Regulaon 28.1.1: (connued)

Non-execuve 

2020 

     

Fees for 
services as 
director or 

     

executive 
member 

Expenses

 

Insurance

 

liability cover

 

       

Total

 

Mr TR Ramabulana* Chairperson

 

202 667

 

6 985

 

4 307

 

213 959

 

Ms TK Mdlulwa** Director

 

87 260

 

2 328

 

4

 

307

 

93 895

 

Dr P Vervoort* Director

 

177 029

 

2 491

 

4 307

 

183 827

 

Mr. Y Haffejee*

 

-

 

132 441

 

4 166

 

4 307

 

140 914

 

Dr CC Nkuna*

 

120 641

 

2 119

 

4 307

 

127 067

 

Ms FV Mphuthi*

 

153 146

 

1 476

 

4 307

 

158 929

 

 

873 184

 

19 565

 

25 842 918 591

 

* The board was appointed in August 2017.

 

** Resigned 7 March 2020
-Reimbursed subsequent to year end

 
 

    

2019

 
    

 
 

 

  

Mr TR Ramabulana* Chairperson

 

150 308

 

6 852  6 731 

 

163 891

Dr P Vervoort* Director

 

165 136

 

3 624

 

6 731

 

175 491

 

Mr Y Haffejee*-Director

 

131 891

 

6 498

 

6 731

 

145 120

 

Dr CC Nkuna* *

 

81 416

 

3 119

 

6 731

 

91 266

 

Ms Mdlulwa, TK

 

124 209

 

4 909

 

6 731

 

135 849

 

Ms FV Mphuthi*

 

142 879

 

4 592

 

6 731

 

154 202

 

 

795 839

 

29 594

 

40 386 865 819

 

Fees for 
services as 
director or 

     

executive 
member 

Expenses Insurance
liability cover

Total

 
    

    
 

  

 Notes on Treasury Regulaon 28.1.1:   
Fees for services
All fees paid to individuals for

 
services delivered or Board meeng and Board commiee meeng aendances.

Basic salary (including fixed monthly payments) 
Payment made to individuals is on a salary  basis.  
Bonuses and performance related

 
payments

 Bonuses are based on the actual performance of the company and the employee for the previous year, and are approved by the 
Board of Directors.

 Expense allowances

 
All payments made to individuals are in respect of travel allowances as well as personal expenses incurred for official business. 
Cell phone allowances, non-taxable daily allowance for overseas travel and travel with own vehicle for business purposes at a 
rate per kilometre are disclosed

 

separately.

 

Contribuons to pension fund
Fixed payments made on behalf of individuals (which form part of the execuves’ total cost to company salary packages).
Contribuons to directors or officer’s liability insurance cover
These payments are for professional indemnity insurance premiums and the company makes the payments to the insurer in 
terms of the company’s arcles of associaon.

 

Other material benefits

 
received

 

The payments are for acting on a higher posion.
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Notes to the Annual Financial 

Statements
 

20.     Investment revenue

Interest revenue

 

Bank and other cash

 

19 068 782

 

30 065 127

 

 

21.     Taxaon

 

 
 

Major components of the tax expense

Current

 

Income tax expense

 

 

- 

 

11 169 995

 

Deferred tax (Income) / expense

 

3 023 902

 

418 036

 

 

3 023 902 11 588 031

 
 

The tax on the company's profit before tax differs from the theorecal amount that

 

would 

 

arise using the basic tax rate as follows: Refer to the note on deferred tax for the calculaon.

 
 

The deferred tax benefit in the current year is mainly aributable to the R34 146 594 grant

 
 

received in advance from Tshwane Animal Health Innovaon Cluster (TAHIC) and various 

 

other educaonal grants. As at 31 March 2020 R21 912 989 was remaining.

 

 

Reconciliaon of the tax expense

 

Reconciliaon between applicable tax rate and average effecve tax rate.

taxaon rate

 

 

 

 

28,00 %

 

 

 

 

28,00 %

 

Other taxable items

 

19,82 %

 

1,97 %

 

Amorsaon of government grant -

 

research

 

(34,92)%

 

(3,69)%

 

Amorsaon of recapitalisaon grant

 

(7,27)%

 

(0,83)%

 

Disallowed deducon on producon building

 

63,76 %

 

6,48 %

 

Amorsaon of government grant –

 

small-animal facility

 

(1,57)%

 

(0,15)%

 

Amorsaon of government grant –

 

corporasaon

 

(12,07)%

 

(1,19)%

 

Other non-taxable items

 

(27,75)%

 

(2,59)%

 

28,00 % 28,00 %

 

22.     Auditor's remuneraon

Fees
 

3 108 079
 

2 529 864
 

Statutory 
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23.     Cash used in operaons

(Loss) / Profit before taxaon (8 828 849) 52 868 215

Adjustments for:

 

Depreciation and amortisation

 

 

12 113 464

 

 

12 294 076 

Interest received

 

(19 068 782)

 

(30 065 127)

 

Changes in working capital:

 

Inventories

 

 

9 541

 

271 

 

(43 648 375)

 

Trade and other receivables

 

(15 357 122)

 

6 370 520

 

Trade and other payables

 

2 798 921

 

(13 619 853)

 

Deferred Recapitalisaon Grant

 

(6 517 669)

 

(6 973 020)

 

Deferred Research and Development Grant

 

301 283

 

1 428 089

 

Movement in deferred government grant –

 

small-animal facility

 

(285 532)

 

(285 533)

 

Movement in deferred government grant 

 

corporasaon of OBP Ltd

 

(2 251 875)

 

(2 251 875)

 

 

(27 554 890)

 

(23 882 883)

 

24.    Tax refunded (paid)

Balance at beginning of the year
 

19 423 530
 

1 344 105
 

Current tax for the year recognised in profit or loss
 

-
 

(11 169 995)
 

Tax paid during the year
 

5 970 709
 

29 667 456
 

Deferred tax movement -  (418 036)  

 25 394 239  19 423 530  

 

During the year the company paid R9 million for the first and second provisional tax. The company
also received R2.9 million as a refund of prior year’s tax payments.

 

 

 Authorised capital expenditure
 

 Already contracted for but not provided for

 

 

Property, plant

 

and equipment

 

117

 

687 736

 

222 900 400

 

 

Contracts

 

2

 

653 347

 

3 752 473

 Operang leases – as lessor (income)

 
  

Minimum lease payments due

 
- within one year

 

 
66 000

 

 
183 747

 
-

 

in second to fi�h year inclusive

 

165 000

 

336 936

 

 

231 000 520 683

 

 

Post Office is currently running on a month-to-month basis. Just Nature's contract is ending Sep 2023.

 
 

The company had R117.7 million disclosable capital commitments at 31 March 2020 for the 

 

GMP upgrade of the manufacturing facility.

 

 

There are also commitments relang to contracts entered before 31 March

 

2020 which expire

 

in future financial years. These commitments amount to R2 653 347.

 

25.    Commitments
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26. Contingencies

OBP has pending cases with employees at CCMA and labour court. The amounts could not

  

be reliably measured at year end.

 
 

OBP is aware of a ligaon between the Agricultural Research Council (ARC) and Tshwane 

 

municipality in relaon to an outstanding debt by the ARC. Since OBP is paying

 

ARC for electricity, 

 

a percentage of the outstanding debt could be payable by OBP. As at 31 March 2020 the amount 

 

of liability could not be reliably measured.

 
 

 

`

Council (ARC). Both OBP and OVI have the
 

Minister of Agriculture, Forestry & Fisheries as
 

their shareholder. OVI buys, among other
 

things, vaccines, small animals and media products.
 

In turn, OBP buys from OVI research and other small items such as trolleys. The relaonship 
 

with all other state departments is commercial in nature. 

27.     Related pares

  

Relaonships

 

The related pares are companies that have common shareholding and directorship with OBP. 

 

OBP , as a state-owned enty, had the following transacons with other state departments:

 

Related party transacons

 

Product sold to state departments:

 

- (2 574 348)

 

Department of Agriculture -

 

Mpumalanga

 

(99 644)

 

-

 

Department of Agriculture –

 

North

 

West

 

(125 245)

 

-

 

Department of Agriculture –

 

KwaZulu-Natal

 

South

 

(57 172)

 

-

 

Agricultural Research Council (ARC)

 

(65 339)

 

-

 

Department of Agriculture -

 

KwaZulu-Natal

 

North

 

(259 205)

 

-

 

SAPS Veterinary Services

 

(112 112)

 

-

 

Department of Agriculture and Land Affairs -

 

Eastern Cape

 

(123 454)

 

-

 

Department of Agriculture -

 

Limpopo

 

(19 742)

 

-

 

Correconal Services -

 

Zonderwater

 

(5 217)

 

-

 

Department of Agriculture –

 

Free

 

State

 

(5 029)

 

-

 

Animal Improvement Instute

 

(818)

 

-

 

Department of Agriculture and Land Affairs -

 

Northern Cape

 

(20 140)

 

-

 

Department of Forestry

 

and Fisheries

    

(1 039

 

814)

  

Total (1 932 931) (2 574 348) 

Products purchased from state departments:

 

Agricultural Research Council (ARC)
 

 

 

14 411 851
 

 

 

5 866 840
 

Rent paid to (received from) related pares
 

SA
 

Post office rental received
 

 

(277 589)
 

 

       
(264 370) 

Related party balances
 

  

           
                 

  

     Figures in Rand                                                                                  2020                        2019
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38  

 

 

28. Prior period errors

Presented below are those items contained in the statement of financial posion, statement 

 

of financial performance and cash flow statement that have been affected

 

by prior year 

 

adjustments, reclassificaons and disclosures:

 
 

The correcon of the error(s) results in adjustments as follows:

 
 

1. The useful lives on certain items of property, plant and equipment was being applied 

 

incorrectly in accordance

 

with the enty's accounng policies. This resulted in property, 

 

plant and equipment being understated by R6 385 129 and correspondingly retained 

 

income being understated by the same amount.

 
 

Deferred Tax assets were consequently overstated by R1 788 061 and retained

 

income 

 

overstated with the same amount due to adjustments made above on property,

  

plant and equipment.

 
 

 

 

Effect of errors on the Statement of financial posion

 

Property, plant and equipment

 

 

- 

 

6 385 129

 

Deferred tax

 

-

 

(1 788 061)

 

Retained income

 

 

29. Comparave figures

 -

 

(4 597 068)

 

 

Where necessary, comparave figures have been restated for prior period error adjustments 

 

and/or reclassified to conform to changes in presentaon in the current year.

 

 

The comparave figures of 2018/19 cover a full 12-month

 

financial period.

 



| 103   ANNUAL REPORT 2019 2020

ONDERSTEPOORT BIOLOGICAL PRODUCTS SOC LTD
[Registration Number 2000/022686/06]
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2020

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

 

30.    Financial assets by category

The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below:

 

2020

  

 

 

 

Trade receivables (incl doub�ul debt provision)
 

Loans and 
receivables

 

 
 

   28 198 114
 

Fair value 
through profit 

or loss
 

 

- 

Bank 
balances- 

Amorsed 
cost  

- 

Carrying 
amount

 

 
 

   28 198 114

 

Fair value

 

 

 

  28 198 114
 

Prepaid expenses  282 079  -
 

-
 

282 079
 

282 079  
Bank balances  -  -  204 695 366  204 695 366  204 695 366  
Investments

 
-

 
81 543 664

 
-

 
81 543 664

 
81 543 664

 

 
28 480 193

 
81 543 664 204 695 366 314 719 223 314 719 223

 
2019

 

 

 

 
Trade receivables (incl doub�ul debt provision)

 

Loans and 
receivables- 

Amorsed 
cost

 

   19 580 039

 

Fair value 
through profit 

or loss

 
 

- 

Bank 
balances- 

Amorsed 
cost

 

- 

Carrying 
amount

 

 
 

   19 580 039

 

Fair value 
through profit 

and loss

 

 

   19 580 039

 
Prepaid expenses

 

296 358

 

-

 

-

 

296 358

 

296 358

 

Bank balances

 

-

 

-

 

350 521 225

 

350 521 225

 

350 521 225

 

Investments

 

-

 

44 032 041

 

-

 

44 032 041

 

44 032

 

041

 

 

19 876 397

 

44 032 041

 

350 521 225

 

414 429 663

 

414 429 663 

 

See note 32 for the fair value determina�on

     

31.    Financial liabilies by category

 
 

    

The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items

 

below: 

 

2020

  
 

 

 

Trade payables

Financial 
liabilities at 

amorsed 
cost

 

  2 594 138

 

Carrying 
amount

 
 
 

  2 594 138

Fair value 
through profit 

and loss

 

  2 594 138

 

Accruals

 

7 047 371

 

7 047 371

 

7 047 371

 

Income received in advance and other payables

 

737 915

 

737 915

 

737 915

 

 

10 379 424

 

10 379 424

 

10 379 424

 

 

2019

 

 

 

Trade payables

 

584 747

 

584 747

 
 

584 747

Accruals 5 161 327 5 161 327 5 161 327

Income received in advance and other payables 1 834 429 1 834 429 1 834 429

7 580 503 7 580 503 7 580 503

See note 32 for the fair value determina�on

Financial 
liabilities at 

amorsed 
cost

 

Carrying 
amount

 
 
 

Fair value 
through profit 

and loss
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32. Risk management

Financial risk management objectives

Financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risks that would be typical of listed companies to which 
the IAS mainly apply. Generally, financial assets and liabilities are generated through day-to-day operational activities and are not 
held to manage the risks facing the entity in undertaking its activities.

The entity’s finance department monitors and manages the financial risks relating to the operations through internal policies and 
procedures. These risks include interest rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. Compliance with policies and procedures is reviewed 
by the internal auditors on a continuous basis. The entity does not enter into or trade financial instruments for speculative purposes.

Significant accounting policies

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted – including the criteria for recognition, the basis of measurement 
and the basis on which income and expenses are recognised in respect of each class of financial asset, financial liability and equity 
instrument – are disclosed in the accounting policies to the annual financial statements.

Market risk

The entity’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in interest rates. No formal policy exists to hedge volatilities 
in the interest rate market. There has been no change to the entity’s exposure to market risks or the manner in which it manages 
and measures the risk.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is defined as the risk that the fair value or future cash flows associated with a financial instrument will fluctuate in 
amount as a result of market interest changes.

All financial instruments attract interest at rates linked directly to the prime bank overdraft rate. The effective interest rate used by 
the entity is the prime interest rate.

In the case of debtors whose accounts are in arrears, it is endeavoured to collect such accounts by “levying of penalty charges”, 
“demand for payment” and, as a last resort, “handed over for collection”, whichever procedure is applicable in terms of the entity’s 
debtor management policy.

All trade receivables and other debtors are individually evaluated annually at balance sheet date for impairment or discounting. 
Interest rate sensitivity analysis

As the entity has no significant interest risk exposure at financial year-end, the effect of strengthening or weakening of the prime 
interest rate at balance sheet date is not considered material.

Liquidity risk

Sufficient cash is maintained to manage the entity’s liquidity risk. Limitations are imposed by Treasury Regulations 32 to the Public 
Finance Management Act (Act 1 of 1999) on borrowings, which limits the committed lines of credit available to entity.
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32.     Risk management (continued) 

Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange contracts are entered into to manage exposure to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates on specific 
transactions both for sale exports and for the acquisition of imported raw material and plant and equipment, except where the 
company has offsetting exposures.

At 31 March 2020, the company had no open forward contracts. The recognition of foreign exchange gains and losses is recorded 
according to IAS 21.

The company reviews its foreign currency exposure, including commitments on an ongoing basis. The company expects its foreign 
exchange contracts to hedge foreign exchange exposure.

Credit risk

Credit risk consists mainly of cash deposits, cash equivalents, trade payables and trade debtors. The entity only deposits cash with 
major banks with high quality credit standing and limits exposure to any one counter party.

Financial assets exposed to credit risk at year end were as follows:          2020                            2019 
Trade and other receivables             28 480 193   19 876 397
Bank balances and cash        204 695 366 350 521 225
          233 175 559 370 397 622

Fair value
  
The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined as follows:  
• The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities with standard terms and conditions and traded on active liquid   

markets is determined with reference to quoted market prices.
• The fair value of other financial assets and financial liabilities is determined in accordance with generally accepted valuation 

techniques based on discounted cash flow analysis using interest rates currently charged or paid by other parties and   
the remaining term to repayment of the interest;

•   The Fair Value of Other Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (excluding Derivative Instruments) is calculated based on the 
present value of future principal and interest cash flows, discounted at the market rate of interest at the reporting date

Management considers the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the financial 
statement to approximate their fair values on 31 March 2019 as a result of the short-term maturity of these assets and liabilities.

33.     Events after the reporting period

The President of South Africa announced a country wide lockdown from the 26th March 2020. This was instigated by the world- wide 
COVID-19 pandemic. Countries around the world also announced travel bans and major other measures to control the spread of the 
disease. The pandemic is expected to have major impact on business and general public life. However, as the lockdown levels began 
to lower, the effects of COVID-19 did not materially affect the operations of the entity

The entity had ongoing investigations relating to irregularities identified during procurement of inventory and COVID-19 supplies. 
The results of such investigations could potentially lead to Irregular, fruitless and wasteful expenditure in future financial years.
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Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

43 

 

 

  

 

34.     Fruitless and wasteful expenditure

 

 

Reconciliaon of fruitless and wasteful expenditure

Opening balance

 

852 887

 

27 322

 

Incurred in the current year

 

-

 

852 887

 

Amount condoned by the

 

Accounng Authority

 

-

 

(27 322)

 

Fruitless and wasteful expenditure being invesgated

 

7 424 917

 

-

 

Fruitless expenditure awaing condonement

 

8 277 804

 

852 887

 

 

Possible fruitless and wasteful expenditure of R7 424 917 for the current year relates to Inventory 
items purchased but not delivered which is currently under invesgaon. Part of the fruitless and 
wasteful expenditure being invesgated amount of R723 520 was incurred in previous financial

 
    

years but was idenfied in the current financial year.

 

An invesgaon into this maer is currently 

 
    

in progress.

 
 

35.     Irregular expenditure

 

 

Reconciliaon of irregular expenditure

 

  

Opening balance

 

42 282 762

 

-

 

Irregular expenditure incurred and identified in the current year

 

1 999 008

 

11 915 388

 

Irregular expenditure incurred in prior years and idenfied in the current year

 

-

 

30 367 374

 

Irregular expenditure awaing condonement

 

44 281 770

 

42 282 762
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Detailed Income Statement

The supplementary information presented does not form part of the annual 
nancial statements and is unaudited

 

 

 

   

 

Revenue 16 158 743 996

 

150 108 517

Cost of sales       (47 109 372) (28 171 813)

Gross profit

  

111 634 624

 

121 936 704

 

Other income

  

43 774 022

 

45 950 445

 

Expenses (Refer to page 108)

 

(174 649 035)

 

(126 091 767)

 

Operang (loss) profit

  

(19 240 389)

 

41 795 382 

Deferred government grants

  

10 411 540

 

11 072

 

833

 

(8 828 849) 52 868 215

 

Taxation

 

21

 

(3 023 902)

 

11 588 031

 

(Loss) profit for the year (5 804 947) 41 280 184

 

Other comprehensive income

  

- - 

Total comprehensive (loss) income for the year (5 804 947) 41 280 184

 

 
 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

DETAILED INCOME STATEMENT
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Detailed Income Statement

 

 

   

 

Operating and administrave expenses

    

Adversing (1 139 834) (2 280 376)

Assets Wrien-Off (12 811 663) -

Auditor remuneraon

 

22

 

(3 108 079)

 

(2 529 864)

 

Bank charges

  

(227 659)

 

(267 787)

 

Cleaning

  

(511 459)

 

(770 390)

 

Conference Seminar

  

(161 842)

 

(55 084)

 

Consumables

  

(3 124 391)

 

(1 297 871)

 

Depreciation, amorsaon and impairments

  

(12 113 464)

 

(12 294 076)

 

Donaons

  

(134 050)

 

(365 001)

 

Employee costs

  

(88 408 804)

 

(82 400 666)

 

Entertainment

  

(1 555 261)

 

(1 261 219)

 

Hire

  

(63 147)

 

(38 721)

 

IT expenses

  

(6 249 058)

 

(3 412 037)

 

Insurance

  

(1 837 526)

 

(1 299 554)

 

Legal expenses

  

(1 387 760)

 

(1 940 584)

 

Loss on disposal of assets

  

(24 528)

 

- 

Medical expenses

  

(1 098 895)

 

(886 223)

 

Motor vehicle expenses

  

(9 719)

 

(270 375)

 

Other expenses

  

-

 

(910 722)

 

Petrol and oil

  

(1 874 694)

 

(74 972)

 

Postage

  

(260)

 

(157)

 

Prinng and staonery

  

(1 620 532)

 

(1 257 272)

 

Producon direct cost and cost adjustments

  

10 205 304

 

34 944 745

 

Professional fees

  

(6 080 433)

 

(2 269 750)

 

Promotions

  

(384 583)

 

(221 658)

 

Protecve clothing

  

(2 293 475)

 

(1 246 006)

 

Realised foreign exchanges losses

  

(7 267 357)

 

(7 673 286)

 

Recruitment Costs

  

(286 079)

 

(524 274)

 

Repairs and maintenance

  

(8 601 949)

 

(6 757 831)

 

Research and development costs

  

(4 051 720)

 

(3 254 285)

 

Royales and license fees

  

2 - 

Security

  

(2 916 185)

 

(2 111 750)

 

So��are expenses

  

(113 365)

 

(716 546)

 

Telephone and fax

  

(710 507)

 

(853 131)

 

Terrain Maintenance

  

(1 564 021)

 

(1 369 459)

 

Training
  

(1 322 604)
 

(2 546 661)
 

Transport and freight (68 664) (55 800)
 

Travel
  

(4 108 694)
 

(5 718 214)
 

Ulities
  

(7 622 080)
 
(12 104 910)

 

Total
 

(174 649 035)
 

(126 091 767)
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DETAILED INCOME STATEMENT
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ACRONYMS

AHS African Horse Sickness

APP Annual Performance Plan

AR&IT Audit, Risk & Information Technology  
 Committee 

ARC Agricultural Research Council

BOD Board of Directors

BT Blue Tongue

BV Bacterial Vaccines

CapEx Capital Expenditure

CCMA Commission for Conciliation, Mediation and  
 Abritation 

CEO Chief Executive Officer

CFO Chief Financial Officer

cGMP current Good Manufacturing Practices

CP  Corporate Plan

CSI Corporate Social Investments 

CSIR Council for Scientific and Industrial Research 

CSO Chief Scientific Officer

DAFF Department of Agriculture Forestry and Fisheries

DALRRD Department of Agriculture, Land Reform & Rural 

 Development 

EAP Economically Active Population

EE Employment Equity

EMU Engineering, Maintenance and Utilities 

ERP Enterprise Resource Planning

ExCo Executive Committee

FAO Food and Agriculture Organisation

FAT Factory Acceptance Test 

FD Freeze Dried

FY Financial Year

GAAP Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 

GMP Good Manufacturing Practice

HR  Human Recources

IAS International Accounting Standards

IDRC International Development Research Centre

IESBA code International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’  
 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants

IFRS International Financial Reporting Standards

ISAs International Standards on Auditing

ISO International Organisation Standardisation

IT Information Technology

King IV The fouth report on Corporate governance in  
 South Africa

KPI Key Performance Indicators

LSD Lumpy Skin Disease

Ltd Limited

ManCo Management Committee

MOI Memorandum Of Incorporation

MTEF Medium Term Expenditure Framework 
NEHAWU   National Education Health & Allied Workers Union 

NKP  National Key Point Act of 1980 (No. 102 of 1980)

NRF National Research Foundation

NSPCA National Society for the Prevention of Cruelty  
 to Animal

OBP Onderstepoort Biological Products SOC Ltd

OVI Onderstepoort Veternirary Institute

PAA Public Audit Act

PAYE Pay As You Earn

PFMA Public Finance Management Act

POC Proof of Concept

PPPF Preferetial Procurement Policy Framework

QA Quality Assurance

QC Quality Control

QMS Quality Management System

R&D  Research and Development

RDB Research and Development  Bacterial

RDV  Research and Development Viral

RM Raw Material

RSA Republic of South Africa

RVF Rift Valley Fever

SA South Africa

SADC South African Development Community

SAPS South African Police Services

SARS South African Revenue Service

SAVC South African Veterinary Council

SCM Supply Chain Management

SHE Safety Health and Environment

SOC State-owned Company

SOP Standard Operating Procedure

SOPs Standard Operating Procedures

SPCA Society for the Prevention of Cruelty to Animals

SSA State Security Agency

TIA Technology Innovation Agency

UAT User Acceptance Testing

UIF Unemployment Insurance Fund

UJ University of Johannesburg

UN United Nations

UP University of Pretoria

VP Vaccines Packaging

VV Viral Vaccine

YTD Year To Date

ZAR Zuid-Afrikaanse Rand (South African Rand) 
       
   
      
 






